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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly
Report, including statements regarding our anticipated future clinical and regulatory events, future financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives
of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements are generally written in the future tense and/or are preceded by
words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “forecast,” “could,” “expect,” “suggest,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” or similar words, or the
negatives of such terms or other variations on such terms or comparable terminology. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation: the planned
expanded commercialization of our products and the potential future commercialization of our product candidates, our anticipated future cash position; our plan
to acquire additional assets; our anticipated future growth rates; anticipated sales increases; anticipated net revenue increases;  amounts of certain future
expenses and costs of goods sold; anticipated increases to operating expenses, research and development expenses, and selling, general, and administrative
expenses; and future events under our current and potential future collaborations. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, including without limitation the risks described in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-
K, and in the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These risks are not exhaustive. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and
rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors, nor can we assess
the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as predictions of future events. We can provide no
assurance that the events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur and actual results could differ materially from
those projected in the forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update or supplement forward-looking statements, except as may be required
under applicable law.

 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes trademarks, such as Aytu, Natesto, Tuzistra, ZolpiMist, MiOXSYS, and RedoxSYS, which are protected

under applicable intellectual property laws and we own or have the rights to. Solely for convenience, our trademarks and trade names referred to in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may appear without the ® or TM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate in any way that we will not assert, to
the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to these trademarks and trade names.  
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

  
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheets
      

   March 31,    June 30,  
  2019   2018  
   (unaudited)     

  Assets     
 Current assets       

 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,647,402  $ 7,012,527 
 Restricted cash   100,296   100,000 
 Accounts receivable, net   1,376,358   578,782 
 Inventory, net   1,530,083   1,338,973 
 Prepaid expenses and other   804,840   440,009 

 Total current assets   18,458,979   9,470,291 
         
         

 Fixed assets, net   219,177   218,684 
 Licensed assets, net   19,430,767   11,120,086 
 Patents, net   226,944   245,944 
 Deposits   2,200   5,088 

 Total long-term assets   19,879,088   11,589,802 
         

 Total assets  $ 38,338,067  $ 21,060,093 

         
  Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity     

 Current liabilities         
 Accounts payable and other  $ 2,131,251  $ 2,119,672 
 Accrued liabilities   772,140   185,882 
 Accrued compensation   791,586   540,674 
 Current deferred rent   -   1,450 
 Current contingent consideration   808,779   547,100 

 Total current liabilities   4,503,756   3,394,778 
         

 Long-term contingent consideration   12,633,824   4,146,829 
 Long-term debt - related party (Note 11)   5,134,795   - 
 Warrant derivative liability   28,513   93,981 

 Total liabilities   22,300,888   7,635,588 
         

 Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)         
         

 Stockholders' equity         
 Preferred Stock, par value $.0001; 50,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued         

    and outstanding 2,335,665 and 0, respectively as of         
     March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018   234   - 

 Common Stock, par value $.0001; 100,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued         
    and outstanding 12,848,499 and 1,794,762, respectively as of         
     March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018   1,285   179 

 Additional paid-in capital   107,893,259   92,681,918 
 Accumulated deficit   (91,857,599)   (79,257,592)

 Total stockholders' equity   16,037,179   13,424,505 
         

 Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 38,338,067  $ 21,060,093 

         
  

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)

    
   Three Months Ended March 31,    Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
             
 Product revenue, net  $ 2,372,016  $ 607,473  $ 5,598,836  $ 2,734,995 
 License revenue, net   5,776   -   5,776   - 
 Total revenue   2,377,792   607,473   5,604,612   2,734,995 
                 
 Operating expenses                 
     Cost of sales   616,853   1,136,833   1,552,950   1,809,445 

 Research and development   108,901   114,141   413,808   (22,391)
 Selling, general and administrative   5,368,762   4,637,495   13,991,516   13,809,264 
 Selling, general and administrative - related party (Note 11)   6,797   -   351,843   - 
 Impairment of intangible assets   -   1,856,020   -   1,856,020 
 Amortization of intangible assets   575,117   387,606   1,561,137   1,156,258 
 Total operating expenses   6,676,430   8,132,095   17,871,254   18,608,596 

                 
 Loss from operations   (4,298,638)   (7,524,622)   (12,266,642)   (15,873,601)

                 
 Other (expense) income                 

 Other expense, net   (194,703)   (186,629)   (398,833)   (572,155)
 Derivative (expense) income   (2,521)   3,139,971   65,468   3,957,756 
 Other gain   -   1,753,568   -   1,753,568 

 Total other (expense) income   (197,224)   4,706,910   (333,365)   5,139,169 
                 
 Net loss  $ (4,495,862)  $ (2,817,712)  $ (12,600,007)  $ (10,734,432)

 Weighted average number of                 
 common shares outstanding   9,061,023   592,771   5,785,669   250,478 

                 
 Basic and diluted net loss                 

 per common share  $ (0.50)  $ (4.75)  $ (2.18)  $ (42.86)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
 Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(unaudited)
 

   Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
 Additional

paid-in    Accumulated   
 Total

Stockholders'  
   Shares    Amount    Shares    Amount    capital    Deficit    Equity  
                      
Balance - June 30, 2018   -  $ -   1,794,762  $ 179  $ 92,681,918  $ (79,257,592)  $ 13,424,505 
                             
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   65,563   -   65,563 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   86,551   -   86,551 
Adjustment for rounding of shares due to stock split
(unaudited)   -   -   6,649   1   (1)   -   - 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (3,446,483)   (3,446,483)
Balance - September 30, 2018 (unaudited)   -   -   1,801,411   180   92,834,031   (82,704,075)   10,130,136 

                             
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   41,108   -   41,108 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   2,707,022   271   152,683   -   152,954 
Commen stock issued to employee (unaudited)   -   -   9,000   1   11,689   -   11,690 
Issuance of preferred and common stock, net of $1,479,963
in cash issuance costs (unaudited)   8,342,993   834   1,777,007   178   11,810,373   -   11,811,385 
Warrants issued in connection with the registered offering
(uniaudited)   -   -   -   -   1,827,628   -   1,827,628 
Warrants issued in connection with the registered offering to
the placement agents, non-cash issuance costs (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   61,024   -   61,024 
Preferred stocks issued in connection with the purchase of
assets (unaudited)   400,000   40   -   -   519,560   -   519,600 
Preferred stocks converted into common stock (unaudited)   (4,210,329)   (421)   4,210,329   421   -   -   - 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (4,657,662)   (4,657,662)
Balance - December 31, 2018 (unaudited)   4,532,664   453   10,504,769   1,051   107,258,096   (87,361,737)   19,897,863 

                             
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   15,308   -   15,308 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   (25,600)   (2)   361,360   -   361,358 
Preferred stocks converted into common stock (unaudited)   (2,196,999)   (219)   2,196,999   219   -   -   - 
Warrant exercises (unaudited)   -   -   172,331   17   258,495   -   258,512 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (4,495,862)   (4,495,862)
Balance - March 31, 2019 (unaudited)   2,335,665  $ 234   12,848,499  $ 1,285  $ 107,893,259  $ (91,857,599)  $ 16,037,179 
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
 Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(unaudited)
 

   Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
 Additional

paid-in    Accumulated   
 Total

Stockholders'  
   Shares    Amount    Shares    Amount    capital    Deficit    Equity  
                      
Balance - June 30, 2017   -  $ -   824,831  $ 82  $ 73,069,463  $ (69,069,729)  $ 3,999,816 
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   195,105   -   195,105 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   200,000   20   72,286   -   72,306 
Earn-out payment to Nuelle shareholders (unaudited)   -   -   3,018   -   11,589   -   11,589 
Issuance of preferred and common stock, net of $1,402,831
in cash issuance costs (unaudited)   2,250   1   3,196,665   320   6,318,846   -   6,319,167 
Adjustment for rounding of shares due to stock split
(unaudited)   -   -   326   -   -   -   - 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (4,245,042)   (4,245,042)
Balance - September 30, 2017 (unaudited)   2,250   1   4,224,840   422   79,667,289   (73,314,771)   6,352,941 

                             
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   80,583   -   80,583 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   492,000   49   31,280   -   31,329 
Earn-out payment to Nuelle shareholders (unaudited)   -   -   61,132   6   238,405   -   238,411 
Preferred stocks converted in common stock (unaudited)   (350)   -   116,666   12   (12)   -   - 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (3,672,678)   (3,672,678)
Balance - December 31, 2017 (unaudited)   1,900   1   4,894,638   489   80,017,545   (76,987,449)   3,030,586 

                             
Stock-based compensation (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   12,322   -   12,322 
Issuance of restricted stock (unaudited)   -   -   75,000   8   54,942   -   54,950 
Issuance of preferred stock and common stock, net of
 $1,294,235 in cash issuance costs (unaudited)   3,216   1   21,520,000   2,152   9,164,272   -   9,166,425 
Warrants issued in connection with registered offering
(unaudited)   -   -   -   -   2,439,360   -   2,439,360 
Preferred stocks converted in common stock (unaudited)   (5,116)   (2)   7,780,000   778   (776)   -   - 
Warrant exercises (unaudited)   -   -   1,547,000   155   640,225   -   640,380 
Issuance of warrants (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   179,287   -   179,287 
Warrant amendment (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   4,633   -   4,633 
Warrant exercise of derivative warrants (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   40,096   -   40,096 
Adjustment for rounding of shares due to stock split
(unaudited)   -   -   3,431   -   -   -   - 
Net loss (unaudited)   -   -   -   -   -   (2,817,712)   (2,817,712)
Balance - March 31, 2018 (unaudited)   -  $ -   35,820,069  $ 3,582  $ 92,551,906  $ (79,805,161)  $ 12,750,327 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 

4

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
 

AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)
   

   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018  
       
Cash flows from operating activities       

Net loss  $ (12,600,007)  $ (10,735,432)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities         

Depreciation, amortization and accretion   1,974,213   1,975,448 
Stock-based compensation expense   121,979   288,010 
Issuance of restricted stock   600,863   158,585 
Issuance of common stock to employee   11,690   - 
Derivative (income)   (65,468)   (3,957,756)
Impairment of intangible assets   -   1,856,020 
Other gain   -   (1,753,568)
Issuance of warrants   -   179,287 
Warrant amendment   -   4,633 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
(Increase) in accounts receivable   (797,576)   (204,437)
(Increase) decrease in inventory   (191,110)   428,401 
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and other   (364,831)   (586,139)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and other   (17,769)   967,641 
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities   586,258   (571,121)
Increase in accrued compensation   250,912   558,451 
Increase in interest payable - related party   134,795   - 
(Decrease) in deferred rent   (1,450)   (5,005)

Net cash used in operating activities   (10,357,501)   (11,396,982)
         
Cash flows used in investing activities         

Deposit   2,888   - 
Purchases of property and equipment   (59,848)   (74,707)
Contingent consideration payment   (408,917)   (7,385)
Purchase of assets   (500,000)   - 

Net cash used in investing activities   (965,877)   (82,092)
         
Cash flows from financing activities         

Issuance of preferred, common stock and warrants   15,180,000   24,740,015 
Issuance costs related to preferred, common stock and warrants   (1,479,963)   (2,697,066)
Warrant exercises   258,512   640,380 
Issuance of debt - related party   5,000,000   - 

Net cash provided by financing activities   18,958,549   22,683,329 
         
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   7,635,171   11,204,255 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   7,112,527   877,542 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 14,747,698  $ 12,081,797 

         
Fair value of warrants issued to investors and underwriters  $ 1,888,652  $ - 
Issuance of preferred stock related to purchase of asset  $ 519,600  $ - 
Contingent consideration (see Note 6)  $ 8,833,219  $ - 
Contingent consideration included in accounts payable  $ 29,348  $ 11,283 
Warrants issued to investors and underwriters  $ -  $ 4,117,997 
Earn-out payment to Nuelle Shareholders in common stock  $ -  $ 250,000 
Warrant exercise of derivative warrants  $ -  $ 40,096 

 
The accompanying notes are an internal part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

 
Note 1 – Business, Basis of Presentation, License and Supply Agreements
 
Business
 
Aytu BioScience, Inc. (“Aytu”, the “Company” or “we”) was incorporated as Rosewind Corporation on August 9, 2002 in the State of Colorado. Aytu was re-
incorporated in the state of Delaware on June 8, 2015. Aytu is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on global commercialization of novel products
addressing significant medical needs such as hypogonadism (low testosterone), cough and upper respiratory symptoms, insomnia, and male infertility and plans
to expand opportunistically into other therapeutic areas.
  
Basis of Presentation
 
The unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in this report represent the financial statements of Aytu and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Aytu
Women’s Health, LLC. The unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with Aytu’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended June 30, 2018, which included all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). In the opinion of
management, these unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position of Aytu and the results
of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. The results of operations for the period ended March 31, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of
expected operating results for the full year. The information presented throughout this report, as of and for the periods ended March 31, 2019, and 2018, is
unaudited.
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. On August 10, 2018, Aytu effected a
reverse stock split in which each common stockholder received one share of common stock for every 20 shares held (herein referred to collectively as the
“Reverse Stock Split”). All share and per share amounts in this report have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the Reverse Stock Split.
    
License and Supply Agreement—Natesto
  
In April 2016, Aytu entered into a license and supply agreement to acquire the exclusive U.S. rights to commercialize Natesto® (testosterone) nasal gel from
Acerus Pharmaceuticals Corporation, or Acerus. We acquired the rights effective upon the expiration of the former licensee’s rights, which occurred on June 30,
2016. The term of the license runs for the greater of eight years or until the expiry of the latest to expire patent, including claims covering Natesto or until the
entry on the market of at least one AB-rated generic product.
 
In addition to the previously disclosed upfront payments made to Acerus, we agreed to make one-time, non-refundable milestone payments to Acerus within 45
days of the occurrence of certain agreed upon milestones. The maximum aggregate amount payable under such milestone payments is $37.5 million.
 
The fair value of the net identifiable Natesto asset acquired was determined to be $10.5 million, which is being amortized over eight years. The aggregate
amortization expense for each of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $330,000. The aggregate amortization expense for each of the
nine-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $989,000.
 
The contingent consideration was initially valued at $3.2 million using a Monte Carlo simulation, as of June 30, 2016. As of June 30, 2018, the contingent
consideration was revalued at $1.8 million using the same Monte Carlo simulation methodology, and based on current interest rates, expected sales potential,
and Aytu stock trading variables. The contingent consideration accretion expense for each of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was
$17,000, and $178,000, respectively. The contingent consideration accretion expense for each of the nine-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was
$48,000, and $508,000, respectively. As of March 31, 2019, no milestone payments have been made.
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License Agreement—ZolpiMist
 
In June 2018, Aytu signed an exclusive license agreement for ZolpiMist™ (zolpidem tartrate oral spray) from Magna Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (“Magna”). This
agreement allows for Aytu’s exclusive commercialization of ZolpiMist in the U.S. and Canada.
 
Aytu made an upfront payment of $400,000 to Magna upon execution of the agreement. In July 2018, we paid an additional $300,000, of which, $297,000 was
included in current contingent consideration at June 30, 2018.
 
The ZolpiMist license agreement was valued at $3.2 million and will be amortized over the life of the license agreement up to seven years. The amortization
expense for each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $116,000 and $0, respectively. The amortization expense for each of the nine
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $348,000 and $0, respectively.
 
We also agreed to make certain royalty payments to Magna which will be calculated as a percentage of ZolpiMist net sales and are payable within 45 days of the
end of the quarter during which the applicable net sales occur. 
 
The contingent consideration related to these royalty payments was valued at $2.6 million using a Monte Carlo simulation, as of June 11, 2018. The contingent
consideration accretion expense for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $64,000, and $0, respectively. The contingent consideration
accretion expense for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $184,000, and $0, respectively.
 
License, Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreement—Tuzistra XR
 
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a License, Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreement (the “Tris License Agreement”) with TRIS
Pharma, Inc. (“TRIS”). Pursuant to the Tris License Agreement, TRIS granted the Company an exclusive license in the United States to commercialize Tuzistra
XR. In addition, TRIS granted the Company an exclusive license in the United States to commercialize a complementary antitussive referred to as “CCP-08”
(together with Tuzistra XR, the “Products”) for which marketing approval has been sought by TRIS under a New Drug Application filed with the Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”). As consideration for the Products license, the Company: (i) made an upfront cash payment to TRIS; (ii) issued shares of Series D
Convertible preferred stock to TRIS; and (iii) will pay certain royalties to TRIS throughout the license term in accordance with the Tris License Agreement.
 
The Tris License Agreement was valued at $9.9 million and will be amortized over the life of the Tris License Agreement up to twenty years. The amortization
expense for each of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $123,000 and $0, respectively. The amortization expense for each of the
nine-month periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $205,000 and $0, respectively.
 
We also agreed to make certain quarterly royalty payments to TRIS which will be calculated as a percentage of our Tuzistra XR net sales, payable within 45
days of the end of the applicable quarter.
 
As of November 2, 2018, the contingent consideration, related to this asset, was valued at $8.8 million using a Monte Carlo simulation. The contingent
consideration accretion expense for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $73,000, and $0, respectively. The contingent consideration
accretion expense for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $119,000, and $0, respectively.
   
Liquidity Assessment
 
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, requires management to evaluate the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern one year beyond the filing date of the financial statements contained herein. This evaluation requires management to
perform two steps. First, management must evaluate whether there are conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Second, if management concludes that substantial doubt is raised, management is required to consider whether it has plans in place to
alleviate that doubt. Disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are required if management concludes that substantial doubt exists or that its plans
alleviate the substantial doubt that was raised.
 
Prior to the date of this Report, we have financed operations through a combination of private and public debt and equity financings, receipts from the sale of our
products, and occasionally through divestures of non-strategic assets. Our financing transactions have included private placements of stock and convertible
notes, and public offerings of the Company’s equity securities. Since the formation of Aytu in June 2015, the Company has raised approximately $70.3 million,
inclusive of the $15.2 million we raised in October 2018, from the sale of securities to investors, the exercise of warrants by investors and the $5.0 million of debt
issued in November 2018. Although it is difficult to predict our liquidity requirements, based upon our current operating plan, as of the date of this Report, we
believe we will have sufficient cash to meet our projected operating requirements for the next 12 months.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . The amendments in this ASU provide a single model for use
in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes prior revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific revenue
guidance. The core principle of the new ASU is that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. Disclosures about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers are also required. ASC 606 and ASC 340-40 also require the deferral of
incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers and subsequent amortization of those costs of the period of anticipated benefit. Collectively, we refer to
this guidance as “ASC 606.”
   
Effective July 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  (“ASC 606”). Adoption
of this ASU was done through the modified retrospective method and did not result in a cumulative adjustment to retained earnings or accumulated deficit as of
the adoption date. This is due to the fact that the impact of adopting the new standard is not significant as it relates to historical revenues, future revenues, or
accounting for incremental costs of obtaining contracts with our customers.
   
We adopted the new standard through applying the following conclusions (resulting from a thorough analysis of all contract types): (1) The new guidance did
not materially change our existing policy and practice for identifying contracts with customers, nor did it give rise to changes to our existing policy and practice
or create new concern surrounding the collectability of our receivables from customers, (2) none of our contracts with customers contain multiple performance
obligations that are not fulfilled at the same time, (3) the new guidance did not change our existing policy and practice regarding the recording of variable
consideration, and (4) we did not identify any customer acquisition costs that are incremental and that are expected to be recovered at a future time.
 
As mentioned above, the modified retrospective method of transition did not result in a cumulative adjustment as of July 1, 2018. Additionally, no other line items
in the statement of operations or the balance sheet reflect any changes due to the adoption of the new standard. Adoption of the standards related to revenue
recognition had no impact to cash from or used in operating, financing, or investing on our consolidated cash flows statement.
   
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, Not Adopted as of March 31, 2019
  
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) Disclosure Framework-Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement.” The amendments in the standard apply to all entities that are required, under existing GAAP, to make disclosures about recurring or
nonrecurring fair value measurements. ASU 2018-13 removes, modifies, and adds certain disclosure requirements in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. The
standard is effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019.
 
The amendments on changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair
value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim or annual period
presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their effective date. Early
adoption is permitted upon issuance of ASU 2018-13. An entity is permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of ASU 2018-13
and delay adoption of the additional disclosures until their effective date. The Company is currently assessing the impact that ASU 2018-13 will have on its
financial statements.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses” to require the measurement of expected credit losses for financial
instruments held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable forecasts. The main objective of this ASU is to provide
financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend
credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.
Early adoption is permitted for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently assessing the impact that
ASU 2016-13 will have on its consolidated financial statements but does not anticipate there to be a material impact.
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).”  The new standard establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to
record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or
operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. Lessees are required to use a modified retrospective transition
approach for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements,
with certain practical expedients available. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10, “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases,” to clarify how to
apply certain aspects of the new lease standard. In July 2018, the FASB also issued ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements,”  to give
reporting entities another option for transition. The additional option for transition allows an entity to apply the new lease standard at the adoption date and
recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. In March 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-01,
“Leases (Topic 842): Codification Improvements,”  which clarified that reporting entities are exempt from the interim period transition disclosure requirements in
paragraph 250-10-50-3 of the guidance when adopting ASC 842.The new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of its pending adoption of this standard on its financial statements. As of
March 31, 2019, the Company has future operating lease payments of approximately $166,000 that are being evaluated. The Company is gathering and
evaluating all key lease data elements to meet the requirements of the new guidance. 
 
Note 2 – Revenue Recognition
 
We generate revenues from the sale of products. Revenue is recognized when control of products is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those products.
 
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following five-step model:
 

(i) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract;
 
(ii) determination of whether the promised goods or services are performance obligations, including whether they are distinct in the context of the contract;
 
(iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration;
 
(iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and
 
(v) recognition of revenue when, or as the Company satisfies each performance obligation.

  
Product Revenues, Net
 
The Company sells its products principally to a limited number of wholesale distributors and pharmacies in the United States, which account for the largest
portion of our total revenue. International sales are made primarily to specialty distributors, as well as hospitals, laboratories, and clinics, some of which are
government owned or supported (collectively, its “Customers”). The Company’s Customers in the United States subsequently resell the products to patients and
pharmacies. In accordance with ASC 606, the Company recognizes net revenues from product sales when the Customer obtains control of the Company’s
product, which typically occurs upon delivery to the Customer. The Company’s payment terms are between 30 to 60 days in the United States and consistent
with prevailing practice in international markets.
 
Revenue from product sales is recorded at the net sales price, or “transaction price,” which includes estimates of variable consideration that result from coupons,
discounts, chargebacks and distributor fees, processing fees, as well as allowances for returns and government rebates. Provisions are established for the
estimates of variable consideration based on the amounts earned or to be claimed on the related sale. Provision balances related to estimated amounts payable
to direct customers are netted against accounts receivable from such customers. Balances related to indirect customers are included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. Where appropriate, the Company utilizes the expected value method to determine the appropriate amount for estimates of variable
consideration based on factors such as the Company’s historical experience and specific known market events and trends. We constrain our estimates by giving
consideration to factors that could otherwise lead to a probable reversal of revenue.
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Revenues by Geographic location
 
The following table reflects our product revenues by geographic location as determined by the billing address of our customers:
  
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  

U.S  $ 2,024,000  $ 483,000  $ 5,025,000  $ 2,380,000 
Rest-of-the-World   348,000   124,000   574,000   355,000 
Total net revenue  $ 2,372,000  $ 607,000  $ 5,599,000  $ 2,735,000 

  
License Revenue, Net
 
The license revenue of $6,000 and $0 recognized in the three and nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, represent the payment received
from the Company’s ZolpiMist sublicensing agreement with SUDA Pharmaceuticals. In connection with the ZolpiMist License Agreement, Aytu assumed the
SUDA Pharmaceuticals sublicensing agreement for ZolpiMist outside of the United States and Canada. This licensing agreement calls for SUDA to lead
commercial development and sublicensing efforts for ZolpiMist in major territories outside the United States and Canada, including Europe, Asia, and Latin
America. SUDA has already entered into sublicensing agreements in key markets with large, multi-national pharmaceutical companies and has agreements in
place in China, Chile, Brazil, and throughout Southeast Asia.
   
Note 3 - Inventories
 
Inventories consist of raw materials, work in process and finished goods and are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a
first-in, first-out basis. Aytu periodically reviews the composition of its inventories to identify obsolete, slow-moving or otherwise unsaleable items. If unsaleable
items are observed and there are no alternate uses for the inventory, Aytu will record a write-down to net realizable value in the period that the impairment is first
recognized. We currently have a reserve of $10,000 for slow moving inventory as of March 31, 2019 and $0 at June 30, 2018.
 
Inventory balances consist of the following:
 

  
March 31,

2019   
June 30,

2018  
Finished goods, net  $ 984,000  $ 1,100,000 
Raw materials   546,000   239,000 
Total inventory  $ 1,530,000  $ 1,339,000 

   
Note 4 – Fixed Assets
 
Fixed assets are recorded at cost and, once placed in service, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the shorter of the estimated economic life or related lease term. Fixed assets consist of the following:
 

  

Estimated
Useful Lives in

years   
As of March 31,

2019   
As of June 30,

2018  
          
          
Manufacturing equipment   2 - 5   $ 83,000  $ 213,000 
Leasehold improvements   3   112,000   112,000 
Office equipment, furniture and other   2 - 5    315,000   344,000 
Lab equipment   3 - 5    90,000   90,000 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization       (381,000)   (540,000)
             
   Fixed assets, net      $ 219,000  $ 219,000 

 
 Depreciation and amortization expense was as follows:
  
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
 Depreciation and amortization expense  $ 15,000  $ 91,000  $ 59,000  $ 252,000 
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Note 5 – Patents
 
The cost of the oxidation-reduction potential (“ORP”) technology related patents for the RedoxSYS and MiOXSYS Systems was $380,000 when they were
acquired and are being amortized over the remaining U.S. patent life of approximately 15 years as of the date, which expires in March 2028. Patents consist of
the following:
  
  As of March 31,   As of June 30,  
  2019   2018  
Patents  $ 380,000  $ 380,000 
Less accumulated amortization   (153,000)   (134,000)
         
   Patents, net  $ 227,000  $ 246,000 

 
The amortization expense was as follows:
  
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
 Amortization expense  $ 6,000  $ 6,000  $ 19,000  $ 19,000 
 
Note 6 – Fair Value Considerations
 
Aytu’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, debt, warrant
derivative liability, and contingent consideration. The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. The carrying amount of debt approximates its fair
value. The fair value of the warrant derivative liability was valued using the lattice valuation methodology. The fair value of acquisition-related contingent
consideration is based on a Monte Carlo methodology using estimated discounted future cash flows and periodic assessments of the probability of occurrence of
potential future events. The valuation policies are determined by the Chief Financial Officer, and the Company’s Board of Directors is informed of any policy
change.
 
Authoritative guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The guidance establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are
inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of Aytu.
Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect Aytu’s assumptions of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on reliability of the inputs as follows:
 
Level 1:  Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible to Aytu for identical assets or liabilities;
  
Level 2:  Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active or inactive markets or that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly; and
  
Level 3:  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
 
Aytu’s assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to their fair value
measurement. Aytu’s policy is to recognize transfers in and/or out of fair value hierarchy as of the date in which the event or change in circumstances caused
the transfer. Aytu has consistently applied the valuation techniques discussed below in all periods presented.
  
The following table presents Aytu’s financial liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018, by level
within the fair value hierarchy.
  
   Fair Value Measurements Using  
   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
March 31, 2019             
LIABILITIES             
Warrant derivative liability  $ -  $ -  $ 29,000  $ 29,000 
Contingent consideration  $ -  $ -  $ 13,443,000  $ 13,443,000 
                 
June 30, 2018                 
LIABILITIES                 
Warrant derivative liability  $ -  $ -  $ 94,000  $ 94,000 
Contingent consideration  $ -  $ -  $ 4,694,000  $ 4,694,000 
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The warrant derivative liability was valued using the lattice valuation methodology because that model embodies the relevant assumptions that address the
features underlying these instruments. The warrants related to the warrant derivative liability are not actively traded and are, therefore, classified as Level 3
liabilities. Significant assumptions in valuing the warrant derivative liability, based on estimates of the value of Aytu common stock and various factors regarding
the warrants, were as follows as of issuance and as of March 31, 2019:
  
  March 31, 2019   At Issuance  
Warrants:       

 Volatility   163.2%  188.0%
 Equivalent term (years)   3.38   5.00 
 Exercise premium   5%  20%
 Risk-free interest rate   2.21%  1.83%
 Dividend yield   0.00%  0.00%

   
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of changes in the fair value of the derivative financial liabilities classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy:
  

  
 Derivative

Instruments  
 Balance as of June 30, 2018  $ 94,000 

 Change in fair value included in earnings   (65,000)
 Balance as of March 31, 2019  $ 29,000 

    
We classify our contingent consideration liability in connection with the acquisition and licensing of Natesto, ZolpiMist and Tuzistra XR within Level 3 as factors
used to develop the estimated fair value are unobservable inputs that are not supported by market activity. We estimate the fair value of our contingent
consideration liability based on projected payment dates, discount rates, probabilities of payment, and projected revenue. Projected contingent payment
amounts are discounted back to the current period using a discounted cash flow methodology.
 
The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the contingent consideration for the period ended March 31, 2019:
   

  
 Contingent

Consideration  
 Balance as of June 30, 2018  $ 4,694,000 
     Increase due to purchase of assets   8,833,000 
     Increase due to accretion   354,000 
     Decrease due to contractual payments   (438,000)
 Balance as of March 31, 2019  $ 13,443,000 

 
Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies
  
Commitments and contingencies are described below and summarized by the following as of March 31, 2019:
 

  Total   
Remaining

2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   Thereafter  
Prescription database  $ 2,029,000  $ 474,000  $ 509,000  $ 534,000  $ 512,000  $ -  $ - 
Milestone payments   5,500,000   -   -   -   3,000,000   2,500,000   - 
Office lease  521,000   30,000   109,000  113,000  118,000  121,000  30,000
  $ 8,050,000  $ 504,000  $ 618,000  $ 647,000  $ 3,630,000  $ 2,621,000  $ 30,000

 
Prescription Database
 
In May 2016, Aytu entered into an agreement with a vendor that will provide Aytu with prescription information. Aytu agreed to pay approximately $1.9 million
over three years for access to the database of prescriptions written for Natesto. Aggregate payments have been broken down into quarterly payments. In
December 2018, Aytu executed an amendment to the contract that added Tuzistra XR and extended the contract through May of 2022. The amendment added
$1.7 million to the contract value and as of March 31, 2019, Aytu has $2.0 million of payments remaining.
 
Milestone Payments
 
In connection with our intangible assets, Aytu has certain milestone payments, totaling $5.5 million, that will be payable in the future based on sales
performance.  
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Office Lease
 
In June 2018, the Company entered into a 12-month operating lease, beginning on August 1, 2018, for office space in Raleigh, North Carolina. This lease has
base rent of $1,100 a month, with total rent over the term of the lease of approximately $13,200. In September 2015, the Company entered into a 37-month
operating lease in Englewood, Colorado. This lease had an initial base rent of $9,000 a month with a total base rent over the term of the lease of approximately
$318,000. In October 2017, the Company signed an amendment to the 37-month operating lease in Englewood, Colorado, extending the lease for an additional
24 months beginning October 1, 2018. The base rent remained $9,000 per month. In April 2019, the Company extended the lease for an additional 36 months
beginning October1, 2020 (see Note 12). Rent expense for the respective periods was as follows: 
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
 Rent expense  $ 31,000  $ 35,000  $ 94,000  $ 105,000 
 
 
Note 8 – Debt–Related Party
 
On November 29, 2018, Aytu issued a $5.0 million promissory note (the “Note”) to Armistice Capital Master Fund Ltd. (“Armistice”). The Note was collateralized
by the future revenue stream from the products licensed to the Company under the Tris License Agreement between the Company and TRIS. The Note carried
an annual interest rate of 8% and had a three-year term with principal and interest payable at maturity. The Company had the right, in its sole discretion, to repay
the Note without penalty at any time after December 29, 2018. For the quarter ended March 31, 2019, the Company did not exercised the early repayment
option. Subsequent to March 31, 2019, the Company exchanged the Note for a combination of common stock, preferred stock and warrants (see Note 12).
 
Interest expense for the Note for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $99,000 and $0, respectively. Interest expense for the Note for the nine
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was $135,000 and $0, respectively.
 
Note 9 – Common stock
  
At March 31, 2019 and June 30, 2018, Aytu had 12,848,499 and 1,794,762 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively, and 2,335,665 and 0 shares of
preferred stock outstanding, respectively. The Company has 100 million shares of common stock authorized with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 50 million
shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.0001 per share, of which 500 are designated Series A Convertible preferred stock, 161 are designated
as Series B Convertible preferred stock, 8,342,993 are designated as Series C Convertible preferred stock, and 400,000 are designated as Series D Convertible
preferred stock. Included in the common stock outstanding are 2,719,312 shares of restricted stock issued to executives, directors, employees and consultants.
 
On October 9, 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering for, total gross proceeds of $15.2 million which includes the full exercise of the underwriters’
over-allotment option to purchase additional shares and warrants, before deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses payable by
the Company.
 
The securities offered by the Company consisted of: (i) an aggregate of 457,007 shares of its common stock; (ii) an aggregate of 8,342,993 shares of its Series
C Convertible preferred stock convertible into an aggregate of 8,342,993 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $1.50 per share; and (iii) warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 8,800,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The securities were issued at a public offering purchase
price of $1.50 per fixed unit consisting of: (a) one share of common stock and one warrant; or (b) one share of Series C preferred stock and one warrant. The
common stock issued had a relative fair value of $533,000 in the aggregate and a fair value of $594,000 in the aggregate. The Series C preferred stock issued
had a relative fair value of $9.7 million in the aggregate and a fair value of $10.8 million in the aggregate. The warrants are exercisable upon issuance and will
expire five years from the date of issuance. The warrants have a relative fair value of $1.6 million in the aggregate, a fair value of $1.8 million in the aggregate,
and generated gross proceeds of $88,000. The conversion price of the Series C preferred stock in the offering as well as the exercise price of the warrants are
fixed and do not contain any variable pricing features, or any price based anti-dilution features.
 
In connection with this offering, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full, purchasing an additional 1,320,000 shares of common stock and
1,320,000 warrants. The common stock issued had a relative fair value of $1.5 million and a fair value of $1.7 million. The warrants have the same terms as the
Warrants sold in the registered offering. These warrants have a relative fair value of $238,000, a fair value of $265,000, and gross proceeds of $13,000, which
was the purchase price per the underwriting agreement.
 
In October 2018, Aytu issued 9,000 shares of common stock to a former employee.
 
On November 2, 2018, the Company issued 400,000 shares of Series D Convertible preferred stock as consideration for a purchased asset.
 
In March 2019, warrants issued from the October registered offering to purchase an aggregate of 172,231 shares of common stock were exercised for
aggregate gross proceeds to our Company of approximately $259,000.
 
As of March 31, 2019, investors holding shares of Series C preferred stock exercised their right to convert 6,407,328 shares of Series C preferred stock into
6,407,328 shares of common stock. As of March 31, 2019, Aytu has 1,935,665 shares of Series C preferred stock outstanding.
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Note 10 – Equity Instruments
 
Share-based Compensation Plans
  
On June 1, 2015, Aytu’s stockholders approved the Aytu BioScience 2015 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which, as amended in July 2017,
provides for the award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and other equity awards for up to an aggregate of 3.0 million shares of
common stock. The shares of common stock underlying any awards that are forfeited, canceled, reacquired by Aytu prior to vesting, satisfied without any
issuance of stock, expire or are otherwise terminated (other than by exercise) under the 2015 Plan will be added back to the shares of common stock available
for issuance under the 2015 Plan. As of March 31, 2019, we have 205,562 shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan. 
 
Pursuant to the 2015 Plan, 3.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock, are reserved for issuance. The fair value of options granted has been calculated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In order to calculate the fair value of the options, certain assumptions are made regarding components of the
model, including the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock, the risk-free interest rate, volatility, expected dividend yield and the expected option
life. Changes to the assumptions could cause significant adjustments to valuation. Aytu estimates the expected term of granted options based on the average of
the vesting term and the contractual term of the options. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant for
treasury securities of similar maturity. There were no issuances during the three months ended March 31, 2019, therefore, no assumptions are used for this
quarter.
 
Stock option activity is as follows:
 

  
 Number of

Options   

 Weighted
Average Exercise

Price   

 Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

in Years  
Outstanding June 30, 2018   1,798  $ 325.97   6.95 

   Granted   -  $ -     
   Exercised   -  $ -     
   Forfeited/Cancelled   (132)  $ 328.00     

Outstanding March 31, 2019   1,666  $ 325.81   6.49 
Exercisable at March 31, 2019   1,514  $ 325.59   6.43 
 
As of March 31, 2019, there was $28,000 of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock options. The Company expects
to recognize this expense over a weighted-average period of 0.43 years.
 
During the quarter ended December 31, 2018, Aytu issued 75,000 performance-based stock options out of the 2015 Plan to a consultant. These options vest
based on meeting certain market criteria with an exercise price of $1.00. Market options that require specific events before they begin to vest are valued at grant
date. The fair value of the options granted has been calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation. Significant assumptions at issuance in valuing the options were
as follows:
 
Expected volatility 164%
Risk free interest rate 2.99%
Expected term (years) 5.0
Dividend yield 0%
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As of March 31, 2019, there was $44,000 of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to these non-vested stock options. The Company
expects to recognize this expense over a weighted-average period of 0.63 years.
 
Restricted stock issued from the 2015 Plan is as follows:   
 

  
 Number of

Shares   

 Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value   

 Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

in Years  
Unvested at June 30, 2018   37,200  $ 39.80   9.4 
Vested   (850)  $ 40.40     
Granted   2,772,022  $ 1.30     
Forfeited   (90,600)  $ -     
Unvested at March 31, 2019   2,717,772  $ 1.81   9.3 

 
In October 2018, Aytu issued 2,707,022 shares of restricted stock to executives, directors, employees pursuant to the 2015 Plan, which vest in October 2028.
Expense will be recognized over the 10-year vesting period.
 
In January 2019, Aytu modified 168,288 shares of restricted stock for accelerated vesting and recognized an increase in aggregate stock compensation expense
of $207,000. Also, in January 2019, Aytu forfeited 57,000 shares of restricted stock.
 
In February 2019, Aytu issued 65,000 shares of restricted stock to a director pursuant to the 2015 Plan, which vest in February 2029.
 
In March 2019, Aytu forfeited 33,600 shares of restricted stock.
 
Under the 2015 Plan, there was $4,288,000 of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the non-vested restricted stock as of March 31,
2019. The Company expects to recognize this expense over a weighted-average period of 9.32 years. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the
expense related to these awards was $313,000. During the nine months ended March 31, 2019, the expense related to these awards was $452,000.
 
Aytu previously issued 1,540 shares of restricted stock outside the Aytu 2015 Plan, which vest in July 2026. The unrecognized expense related to these shares
was $1,447,000 as of March 31, 2019 and will be recognized over the 10-year vesting period, of which 7.28 years remain. During the three months ended March
31, 2019, the expense related to these awards was $49,000. During the nine months ended March 31, 2019, the expense related to these awards was
$149,000.
 
Stock-based compensation expense related to the fair value of stock options and restricted stock was included in the statements of operations as selling,
general and administrative expenses as set forth in the table below:
 
 
   Three Months Ended March 31,    Nine Months Ended March 31,  
   2019   2018   2019   2018  
 Selling, general and administrative:             

Stock options  $ 15,000  $ 12,000  $ 122,000  $ 288,000 
                 

Restricted stock   362,000   55,000   601,000   159,000 
 Total share-based compensation expense  $ 377,000  $ 67,000  $ 723,000  $ 447,000 
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Warrants
 
A summary of all warrants is as follows:

  
 Number of
Warrants   

 Weighted
Average Exercise

Price   

 Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

in Years  
Outstanding June 30, 2018   1,882,661  $ 25.94   4.61 

             
Warrants issued in connection with the October 2018 offering   10,120,000  $ 1.50     
Warrants issued to underwriters in connection with the October 2018 offering   303,600  $ 1.50     
Warrants exercised   (172,331)  $ 1.50     
Outstanding March 31, 2019   12,133,930  $ 5.29   4.42 

 
In connection with our October 2018 registered offering, we issued warrants to investors and underwriters to purchase an aggregate of 10,423,600 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 and a term of five years. These warrants are accounted for under equity treatment. These warrants had a
relative fair value of $1.8 million and a fair value of $2.0 million.
 
In March 2019, warrants issued from the October registered offering to purchase an aggregate of 172,331 shares of common stock were exercised for
aggregate gross proceeds to our Company of approximately $259,000.
 
Note 11 – Related Party Transactions  
 
Armistice
 
In February 2019, the Company waived its right to disallow Armistice from holding more than 4.99% of Aytu common stock and agreed to allow Armistice to hold
up to 40% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Also, in February 2019, Armistice converted 1.9 million shares of Series C preferred stock into Aytu
common stock, resulting in Armistice holding more than 10% of the Company’s common stock. The Company also had a promissory note to Armistice with a
face value of $5.0 million (see Note 8), which was subsequently exchanged for a combination of common stock, preferred stock and warrants (see Note 12).
Therefore, Armistice is now considered an affiliate of the Company.
 

Co-Pay Support
 
In June 2018, the Company entered into a master services agreement with TrialCard Incorporated (“TCI”), a vendor selected to support the Company sponsored
co-pay program. In supporting the program, Aytu will prefund certain amounts from which TCI will make disbursements to qualified patients presenting valid
prescriptions for Natesto, Tuzistra XR and ZolpiMist on behalf of Aytu. Disbursements will be based upon business rules determined by Aytu. The Company
agreed to pay fees monthly to TCI for account management, data analytics, implementation, and technology and to reimburse TCI for certain direct costs
incurred by TCI to support the Company’s program. One of the Aytu directors, Mr. Donofrio, was an executive officer of TCI but has no direct interest in the
arrangement. As of February 2019, Mr. Donofrio is no longer employed by TCI.
 
Note 12 – Subsequent Events
 
 

During April 2019, 691,832 of Aytu Series C Preferred shares outstanding converted into 691,832 shares of our common stock.
 

On April 4, 2019, Aytu entered into a 36-month extension of our operating lease for the Englewood, Colorado office space. The base rent will be at $10,000 per
month.
 

On April 18, 2019, pursuant to the exchange agreement between Aytu and Armistice, which was approved by the stockholders of the Company on April 12,
2019, Aytu exchanged the Armistice Note into: (1) 3,120,064 shares of common stock of the Company, (2) 2,751,148 shares of Series E Convertible preferred
stock of the Company, and (3) a Common Stock Purchase Warrant exercisable for 4,403,409 shares of common stock of the Company.
 
On May 1, 2019, Aytu entered into an Independent Contractor Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Averaden, LLC (the “Contractor”). Under the terms of
the Agreement, the Contractor agreed to perform certain consulting services with respect to corporate business development activities for the Company. In
return, the Company has agreed to pay the Contractor $8,400 per month, which amount shall not exceed $110,000 in aggregate. The Agreement will terminate
on May 15, 2020. Gary Cantrell, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, is a Principal of the Contractor.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

This discussion should be read in conjunction with Aytu BioScience, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2018, filed on September 6,
2018. The following discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from
those projected in the forward-looking statements. For additional information regarding these risks and uncertainties, please see the risk factors included in
Aytu’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 6, 2018.
 
Overview, Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Aytu is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on commercializing novel products that address significant patient needs such as hypogonadism (low
testosterone), cough and upper respiratory symptoms, insomnia, and male infertility and plans to expand opportunistically into other therapeutic areas as the
Company continues to execute on its growth plans.
 
On October 9, 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering, with total gross proceeds of $15.2 million which includes the full exercise of the underwriters’
over-allotment option to purchase additional shares and warrants, before deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses payable by
the Company.
 
The securities offered by the Company consisted of (i) an aggregate of 457,007 shares of its common stock, (ii) an aggregate of 8,342,993 shares of its Series
C Convertible preferred stock convertible into an aggregate of 8,342,993 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $1.50 per share, and (iii) Warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 8,800,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The securities were issued at a public offering purchase
price of $1.50 per fixed unit of (a) one share of common stock and one warrant or (b) one share of Series C preferred stock and one warrant. The warrants are
exercisable upon issuance and will expire five years from the date of issuance. The conversion price of the Series C preferred stock in the offering as well as the
exercise price of the warrants are fixed and do not contain any variable pricing features, or any price based anti-dilution features.
 
In connection with this offering, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full and purchased an additional 1,320,000 shares of common stock and
1,320,000 Warrants.
 
During fiscal 2019, the Board of Directors of Aytu expanded the size of the Board of Directors by two seats. On November 30, 2018, the Board of Directors
elected Ketan B. Mehta as a director and elected Steven J. Boyd as a director on April 15, 2019.
 
Prior to the date of this quarterly report, we have financed operations through a combination of private and public debt and equity financings, funds from the sale
of our products, and occasionally through divestures of non-strategic assets. Our financing transactions have included private placements of stock and
convertible notes, and public offerings of the Company’s equity securities. Since the formation of Aytu in June 2015, we have raised approximately $70.3 million
from the sale of its securities to investors and the exercise of warrants by investors. Although it is difficult to predict our liquidity requirements, based upon our
current operating plan, as of the date of this quarterly report, we believe we will have sufficient cash to meet our projected operating requirements for fiscal 2019
and through May 2020.
 
We have incurred accumulated net losses since inception, and at March 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $91.9 million. Our net loss was $12.6 million
for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and we used $10.4 million in cash from operating activities during the nine months ended March 31, 2019. As of
March 31, 2019, we had cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash totaling $14.7 million and other current assets with an aggregate balance of $3.7 million
available to fund our operations, offset by an aggregate of $2.9 million in accounts payable and others and accrued liabilities. In October 2018, we raised gross
proceeds of $15.2 million in a public offering, and in November 2018, we raised $5.0 million of debt which required no cash payment until maturity in November
2022. On April 18, 2019, the $5.0 million of debt was subsequently converted to equity without any cash payment (see Note 12).
 
We are a relatively young company with substantial revenue growth expectations as demonstrated by the nearly 33% quarter-over-quarter net revenue growth
for the three months ended March 31, 2019, and 105% growth in net revenue for the nine months of fiscal 2019 over nine months period ended March 31,
2018. Our primary activities are focused on commercializing our approved product portfolio, including Natesto, Tuzistra XR, ZolpiMist, and MiOXSYS, building our
commercial infrastructure, improving patient access, and improving the effectiveness and reach of our sales force. 
 
Based on our recent trend of increasing revenue, and management’s operating strategy and plans for accelerating revenue growth, we believe that our sales will
continue to grow. We also believe that our efforts and programs designed to reduce discounting of Natesto while growing sales will continue to increase net
revenue and therefore reduce the rate of cash use. Our operating expenses increased slightly as we expected to have several start-up costs related to the
launch of Tuzistra XR as well as the expected cost of expanding our sales team in the quarter ended March 31, 2019. With these assumptions and the additional
capital we raised in October and November, we believe that we have sufficient cash resources to fund operations through May 2020, after which time we could
require additional new capital if our revenue does not continue to grow as we have projected. If, in the judgment of management, capital becomes available on
terms that we consider to be in the best interest of the Company, we may seek to raise additional capital even if the need for additional capital is not imminent.
However, we can provide no assurance that our revenues will increase as anticipated or that additional funding will be available to us on terms acceptable to us,
or at all. If we cannot raise adequate additional capital in the future, if and when we require it, we could be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate
one or more of our commercialization efforts, or our development program. We may also be required to relinquish some or all rights to product candidates at less
favorable terms than we would otherwise choose. This may lead to impairment or other charges, which could materially affect our balance sheet and operating
results.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to recoverability and useful lives of long-lived assets, stock compensation, valuation
of derivative instruments, allowances, contingencies and going concern. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various
other factors the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. The methods, estimates, and judgments used by us in applying these critical accounting policies have a significant impact on the results we report in
our consolidated financial statements. Our significant accounting policies and estimates are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018, filed with the SEC on September 6, 2018.
  
Information regarding our accounting policies and estimates can be found in the Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
Information regarding the recently issued accounting standards (adopted and pending adoption as of March 31, 2019) is combined in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Results of Operations – Three and nine months ended March 31, 2019 compared to March 31, 2018
 
Results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and the three months ended March 31, 2018 reflected losses of approximately $4.5 million
and $2.8 million, respectively. These losses include, in part, non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation, depreciation, amortization and accretion,
issuance of restricted stock, and derivative income in the amount of $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and $2.1 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2018, respectively. The non-cash charges decreased in the three months ended March 31, 2019 primarily due to a decrease in
depreciation, amortization and accretion, and the issuance of restricted stock.
 
Results of operations for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and the nine months ended March 31, 2018 reflected losses of approximately $12.6 million and
$10.7 million, respectively. These losses include, in part, non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation, depreciation, amortization and accretion,
issuance of restricted stock, and derivative income in the amount of $2.6 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and $1.3 million for the nine months
ended March 31, 2018, respectively. The non-cash charges increased in the nine months ended March 31, 2019 primarily due to the reduction in warrant
derivative income.
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Revenue
 
Product revenue
 
We recognized net revenue from product sales of $2.4 million and $607,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We recognized
net revenue from product sales of $5.6 million and $2.7 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our product portfolio includes
Natesto, Tuzistra XR, ZolpiMist, and the MiOXSYS and RedoxSYS Systems, with the majority of our revenue due to the sales of Natesto.
  
As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, our gross product sales are subject to a variety of deductions in arriving at reported net product sales. Over the
past four quarters, we have taken steps to improve our net revenue, which have resulted in substantial increases in net revenue as indicated in the table below.
Provisions for deductions from gross revenue are recorded concurrently with the recognition of gross product revenue and include coupons, discounts,
chargebacks, distributor fees, processing fees, as well as allowances for returns and government rebates. Provision deductions relating to estimated amounts
payable to direct customers are netted against accounts receivable and balances relating to indirect customers are included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities. The provisions recorded to reduce gross product sales to net product sales are as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Gross product revenue  $ 3,363,000  $ 1,948,000  $ 9,051,000  $ 6,220,000 
Provisions to reduce gross product sales to net product sales   (991,000)   (1,341,000)   (3,452,000)   (3,485,000)
Net product revenue  $ 2,372,000  $ 607,000  $ 5,599,000  $ 2,735,000 

                 
Percentage of gross sales to net sales   70.5%  31.2%  61.9%  44.0%
 
 License revenue
 
We recognized net license revenue of $6,000 and $0 for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively. This revenue represents the
payment received from the Company’s ZolpiMist sublicensing agreement with SUDA Pharmaceuticals. Aytu assumed the SUDA Pharmaceuticals sublicensing
agreement for ZolpiMist outside of the United States and Canada. This licensing agreement calls for SUDA to lead commercial development and sublicensing
efforts for ZolpiMist in major territories outside the United States and Canada, including Europe, Asia, and Latin America. SUDA has already signed sublicensing
agreements in key markets with large, multi-national pharmaceutical companies and has agreements in place in China, Chile, Brazil, and throughout Southeast
Asia.
  
Expenses
 
Cost of Sales
 
Cost of sales was $617,000 and $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $1.6 million and $1.8 million was
recognized for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The current cost of sales is related to Natesto, Tuzistra XR, ZolpiMist, and the
MiOXSYS and RedoxSYS Systems. The decrease in cost of sales for the three months ending March 31, 2019 was due to the impairment of inventory related to
a discontinued product in March 2018. We expect cost of sales to increase in the future due to and in line with growth in revenue from product sales.

 
Research and Development
 
Research and development costs consist of clinical trials and sponsored research which includes manufacturing development, and consultants and other. These
costs relate solely to research and development without an allocation of general and administrative expenses and are summarized as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Clinical trials and sponsored research  $ 83,000  $ 93,000  $ 319,000  $ (45,000)
Consultants and other   26,000   21,000   95,000   23,000 
  $ 109,000  $ 114,000  $ 414,000  $ (22,000)

   
Comparison of Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2019 and 2018
 
Research and development expenses decreased $5,000, or 4.4%, for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the three months ended March 31,
2018. Research and development expenses increased $436,000, or 1,981.8%, for the nine months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the nine months ended
March 31, 2018. The increase was due primarily to the absence of a reversal of a previously accrued liability, which was present in December of 2017.  We
anticipate research and development expense to increase in fiscal 2019 as we anticipate funding a study to further support the clinical application of our
MiOXSYS System, and to fund further clinical studies for Natesto to potentially support new claims and/or to comply with FDA post-marketing study
requirements.
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 Selling, General and Administrative
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of labor costs, including personnel costs for employees in executive, commercial operations, and
administrative functions; stock-based compensation; patents and intellectual property; professional fees including legal, auditing, accounting, investor relations,
shareholder expense and printing and filing of SEC reports; occupancy, travel and other expenses including rent, governmental and regulatory compliance,
insurance, and professional subscriptions; directors fees; impairment expenses; and sales & marketing – related party, which includes payments to TCI for the
Company sponsored co-pay program. These costs are summarized as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Labor  $ 2,504,000  $ 2,166,000  $ 7,161,000  $ 6,938,000 
Stock-based compensation   377,000   67,000   723,000   447,000 
Patent costs   45,000   97,000   153,000   332,000 
Professional fees   304,000   417,000   719,000   1,148,000 
Occupancy, travel and other   2,093,000   1,851,000   5,107,000   4,824,000 
Directors fees   46,000   40,000   128,000   120,000 
Sales & marketing - related party   7,000   -   352,000   - 
  $ 5,376,000  $ 4,638,000  $ 14,343,000  $ 13,809,000 

  
Comparison of Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2019 and 2018
 
Selling, general and administrative costs increased $738,000, or 15.9%, for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2018. Selling, general and administrative costs increased $534,000, or 3.9%, for the nine months ended March 31, 2019, compared to the nine
months ended March 31, 2018. The primary increase was due to labor and occupancy, travel and other costs related to expanding our commercial team,
launching Tuzistra XR, and stock-based on compensation. We expect selling, general and administrative expenses to increase slightly in the remainder of fiscal
2019 due to expanding our sales team and launching Tuzistra XR. The impairment expense of $1,856,000 recognized in the three and nine months ended
March 31, 2018, respectively, represent the impairment of the Aytu Women’s Health assets in fiscal 2018 based upon sales performance and the manufacturer
no longer supporting the product.
 
Amortization of Intangible Assets
 
Amortization of intangible assets was $575,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2019, and $388,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2018.
Amortization of intangible assets was $1.6 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2019, and $1.2 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2018. This
expense increased due to amortization of the related finite-lived intangible assets. We expect this expense to remain flat for the remainder of 2019.
 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
 
During the nine months ended March 31, 2019, our operating activities used $10.4 million in cash, which was less than the reported net loss of $12.6 million.
Our cash use was lower than our reported net loss due to an increase in accrued liabilities, accrued compensation expense and interest payable, along with the
recognition of non-cash expenses such as depreciation, amortization and accretion, stock-based compensation, and restricted stock. These were offset by
derivative income, an increase in accounts receivable, inventory and prepaid expenses and other. 
 
During the nine months ended March 31, 2018, our operating activities used $11.4 million in cash. Our cash use was a result of an increase in accounts payable
and accrued compensation expense, with the recognition of non-cash expenses such as depreciation, amortization and accretion, and the expense related to
the impairment of intangible assets. These were offset by derivative income, other gain, an increase in accounts receivable, inventory and prepaid expenses, and
a decrease in accrued liabilities. 
 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
 
During the nine months ended March 31, 2019, we used $860,000 of cash for investing activities to purchase fixed and operating assets, paid $109,000 in
contingent consideration, and received a $3,000 refund of our deposit for office space.
 
During the nine months ended March 31, 2018, we used $75,000 in investing activities to purchase fixed assets and we made our first revenue share payment
to a discontinued product during the March 31,2018 quarter which was approximately $7,400.
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Net Cash from Financing Activities
 
Net cash provided by financing activities in the nine months ended March 31, 2019 was $19.0 million. This was primarily related to the October 2018 public
offering of $15.2 million, offset by the offering cost of $1.5 million which was paid in cash. In addition, we received proceeds of $5 million from the Note. We also
received proceeds of $259,000 from warrant exercises.
 
Net cash provided by financing activities in the nine months ended March 31, 2018 of $22.7 million was primarily related to the August 2017 Offering of $11.8
million, offset by the cash offering cost of $1.4 million (which was paid in cash), the March 2018 Offering of $12.9 million, offset by the cash offering cost of $1.3
million (which was paid in cash) and the aggregate proceeds of $0.7 million from warrants exercises.
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
We do not have off-balance sheet arrangements, financings, or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons, also known as “variable interest
entities.”
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 
Information regarding our Contractual Obligations and Commitments is contained in Note 7 to the Financial Statements.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 
We are not currently exposed to material market risk arising from financial instruments, changes in interest rates or commodity prices, or fluctuations in foreign
currencies. We have not identified a need to hedge against any of the foregoing risks and therefore currently engages in no hedging activities.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 
As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, an evaluation was carried out by our management, with the participation of the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and are operating in an effective
manner.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 
We are currently not a party to any material pending legal proceedings.
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors.
 
There have been no material changes to the discussion of risk factors included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 
None.

 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 
None.

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 
Not Applicable.

 
Item 5. Other Information.
 
On April 4, 2019, Aytu entered into a 36-month extension of our operating lease for the Englewood, Colorado office space. The base rent will be at $10,000 per
month.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 
Exhibit
Number  Description

  

10.1  Employment Agreement, effective April 16, 2019, between Aytu BioScience, Inc. and Joshua R. Disbrow   
     
10.2  Employment Agreement, effective April 16, 2019, between Aytu BioScience, Inc. and Jarrett T. Disbrow   
     
10.3  Lease amendment between Aytu BioScience, Inc. and Beta Investors Group, LLC   
     
10.4  Exchange Agreement dated February 5, 2019   
     
10.5  Form of Warrant.   
     
10.6  Form of Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock.   
     
10.7  Waiver of Blocker dated February 5, 2019.   
     
31.1  Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.   
     
31.2  Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.   
     
32.1  Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*.   
     
101

 

XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from Aytu BioScience, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2019 formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheet, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Operations, (iii) the
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit), (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and (v) the Consolidated Notes to the
Financial Statements.

  

 
  
 
* The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 accompanying this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, shall not be deemed “filed” by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.
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 AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.  
    

By:  /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow  

  Joshua R. Disbrow  
  Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer) 
Date: May 14, 2019

 

 
  
    

By:  /s/ David A. Green  

  David A. Green  
  Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial and accounting officer)  
Date: May 14, 2019
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Exhibit 10.1

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement"), is effective as of April 16, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), between Aytu BioScience, Inc., a Delaware corporation
headquartered at 373 Inverness Parkway, Suite 206, Englewood, CO 80112 USA, hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and Joshua R. Disbrow
(“Employee").
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Company is a duly organized Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business within the State of Colorado, and is in the
business of developing and marketing pharmaceutical products; and
 

WHEREAS, the Company desires assurance of the continued association and services of the Employee in order to continue to retain the Employee’s
experience, skills, abilities, background and knowledge, and is willing to continue to engage the Employee’s services on the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to be in the continued employ of the Company, and is willing to accept such continued employment on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as follows:
 
1. Employment for Term. The Company hereby agrees to employ Employee and Employee hereby accepts such employment with the Company for the period
of 24 months beginning on the Effective Date. The term of this Agreement (the "Term") shall continue until the termination of Employee's employment in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The termination of Employee's employment under this Agreement shall end the Term but shall not terminate
Employee's or the Company's other obligations that are intended to survive the termination of this Agreement (including without limitation, the payments under
Section 7 and 8 and Employee’s obligations under Section 9).
 
2. Position and Duties. During the Term, Employee shall serve as Chairman of the Board (Chairman) and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company, and
perform such duties as are consistent with this position. The Employee shall report to the Board of Directors of the Company. During the Term, Employee shall
also hold such additional positions and titles as the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") may determine from time to time. During the Term,
Employee shall devote as much time as is necessary to satisfactorily perform his duties as CEO of the Company. Employee may engage in any civic and not-for-
profit activities so long as such activities do not materially interfere with the performance of his duties hereunder or present a conflict of interest with the
Company During the Term of this Agreement, Employee agrees not to acquire, assume or participate in, directly or indirectly, any position, investment or interest
known by the Employee to be adverse or antagonistic to the Company, its business or prospects, its financial position, or otherwise or in any company, person
or entity that is, directly or indirectly, in competition with the business of the Company or any of its affiliates. This provision shall encompass any advisory boards
of which Employee is or becomes a member of during the term hereof. Employee shall provide written disclosure to the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors as to all advisory boards on which Employee sits, and will provide the Company with written notice within 10 business days of
Employee agreeing to sit on any additional advisory boards. On termination of Employee’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination, Employee
shall immediately (and with contemporaneous effect) resign any directorships, offices or other positions that Employee may hold in the Company or any affiliate,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties.
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3. Compensation.
 

(a) Base Salary. The Company shall pay Employee a base salary of $330,000 per annum, payable at least monthly on the Company's regular pay cycle
for professional employees (the “Base Salary”). Except as specifically otherwise provided herein, the Base Salary may be increased only by recommendation of
the Compensation Committee of the Board and ratified by the Compensation Committee or a majority of the independent members of the Board.
 

(b) Annual Review. The Base Salary shall be reviewed at the end of each fiscal year (the first such review to occur at the end of fiscal year 2020).
 

(c) Equity Compensation. In connection with the execution of this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees to grant on or promptly after August 1, 2019
equity compensation to Employee in the form of options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock. These options shall vest in accordance with the terms
and schedule set forth in Exhibit A hereto. Such vesting schedule will be accelerated, to the extent provided in Section 8 of this agreement. Equity grants will be
made annually during the Term of this Agreement in the amount approved by the Compensation Committee and commensurate with the performance level of
the Employee.
 

(d) Other and Additional Compensation.  Subsections (a) and (c) above establish Employee’s compensation during the Term which shall not preclude
the Board from awarding Employee a higher salary or any bonuses or stock options, restricted stock or other forms of additional equity awards in the discretion
of the Board during the Term at any time. The Employee shall be eligible for an annual discretionary bonus (hereinafter referred to as the “Bonus”) with a target
amount of one hundred and twenty five percent (125%) of the Base Salary, subject to standard deductions and withholdings, based on the Compensation
Committee’s determination, in good faith, and based upon the Employee’s individual achievement and company performance objectives as set by the Board or
the Compensation Committee, of whether the Employee has met such performance milestones as are established for the Employee by the Board or the
Compensation Committee, in good faith, in consultation with the Employee (hereinafter referred to as the “Performance Milestones”). The Performance
Milestones will be based on certain factors including, but not limited to, the Employee’s performance and the Company’s financial and operational performance.
The Employee’s Bonus target will be reviewed annually and may be adjusted by the Board or the Compensation Committee in its discretion, provided however,
that the Bonus target may only be reduced upon Employee’s written consent. The Employee must be employed on the date the Bonus is awarded to be eligible
for the Bonus, subject to the termination provisions hereof. Bonuses shall be paid during the calendar quarter following the calendar quarter for which such
Bonus was earned when Performance Milestones are met during a calendar quarter. Fourth quarter Bonuses and Bonuses calculated on the basis of partial
Performance Milestone satisfaction shall be paid within 75 days of fiscal year-end.
 
4. Employee Benefits. During the Term, Employee shall be entitled to participate at the same level as other senior executive officers of the Company in any
group insurance, hospitalization, medical, health and accident, disability, fringe benefit and tax-qualified retirement plans or programs of the Company now
existing or hereafter established to the extent that he is eligible under the general provisions thereof. For the term of this Agreement, Employee shall be entitled
to paid time off at the rate of (5) weeks per annum. In accordance with Company policy, unused paid time off may not be carried over from year to year.
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5. Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Employee for actual, reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the performance of his services for the
Company upon the receipt of appropriate documentation of such expenses which shall be submitted in such form, and with such supporting documentation, as
called for or required by Company policy.
 
6. Termination.
 

(a) General. The Term shall end immediately upon Employee's death. Employee’s employment may also be terminated by the Company with or without
Cause or as a result of Employee’s Disability, as defined in Section 7 or by Employee with or without Good Reason (as such terms are defined below).
 

(b) Notice of Termination.  Either party shall give written notice of termination to the other party.
 

(c) Notification of New Employer. In the event that Employee leaves the employ of the Company, Employee grants consent to notification by the
Company to Employee’s new employer about his rights and obligations under this Agreement and the PIA (hereinafter defined).
 
7. Severance Benefits.
 

(a) Cause Defined. "Cause" means (i) willful malfeasance or willful misconduct by Employee in connection with his employment; (ii) Employee's gross
negligence in performing any of his duties under this Agreement; (iii) Employee's conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty to, or entry of a plea of nolo contendere
with respect to, any crime other than a traffic violation or infraction which is a misdemeanor; (iv) Employee’s willful and deliberate violation of a Company policy,
(v) Employee's unintended but material breach of any written policy applicable to all employees adopted by the Company which is not cured to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Board of Directors within thirty (30) business days after notice thereof; (vi) the Employee’s unauthorized use or disclosure of any proprietary
information or trade secrets of the Company or any other party as to which the Employee owes an obligation of nondisclosure as a result of the Employee’s
relationship with the Company, (vii) the Employee’s willful and deliberate breach of his obligations under this Agreement, or (viii) any other material breach by
Employee of any of his obligations in this Agreement which is not cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board of Directors within thirty (30) business days
after notice thereof.
 

(b) Disability Defined. "Disability" shall mean (i) Employee's incapacity due to a physical or mental condition and, if reasonable accommodation is
required by law, after any reasonable accommodation, that results in Employee being substantially unable to perform his duties hereunder for six consecutive
months (or for six months out of any nine month period) or (ii) a qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to the Company and Employee determines
that Employee is incapacitated due to a physical or mental condition and, if reasonable accommodation is required by law, after any reasonable accommodation
so as to be unable to regularly perform the duties of his position and such condition is expected to be of a permanent or near-permanent duration. Until such
time as Employee is terminated for Disability under this paragraph (b), Employee shall continue to receive his Base Salary hereunder, provided that if the
Company provides Employee with disability insurance coverage, payments of Employee's Base Salary shall be reduced by the amount of any disability
insurance payments received by Employee due to such coverage. The Company shall give Employee written notice of termination due to Disability which shall
take effect sixty (60) days after the date it is sent to Employee unless Employee shall have returned to the performance of his duties hereunder during such sixty
(60) day period (whereupon such notice shall become void). In the event that the Company terminates Employee’s employment as a result of his Disability,
Employee shall be entitled to the same benefits as if his employment had been terminated by the Company without Cause.
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(c) Good Reason Defined. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean, without Employee’s written consent: (i) there is a material
reduction of the level of Employee’s compensation (excluding any bonuses) (except where there is a general reduction applicable to the management team
generally, provided, however, that in no case may the Base Salary be reduced below the amount stated in Section 3(a)), (ii) there is a material reduction in
Employee’s overall responsibilities or authority, or scope of duties (it being understood that the occurrence of a Change in Control shall not, by itself, necessarily
constitute a reduction in Employee’s responsibilities or authority); or (iii) there is a material change in the principal geographic location at which Employee must
perform his services (it being understood that the relocation of Employee to a facility or a location within forty (40) miles of the State Capitol Building in Denver,
Colorado shall not be deemed material for purposes of this Agreement). No event shall be deemed to be “Good Reason” if the Company has cured the event (if
susceptible to cure) within 30 days of receipt of written notice from Employee specifying the event or events which, absent cure, would constitute “Good Cause.”
 

(d) Accrued Compensation Defined. Accrued Compensation shall mean an amount which shall include all amounts earned or accrued by Employee
through the date of termination of this Agreement but not paid as of such date, including (i) Base Salary, (ii) reimbursement for business expenses incurred by
the Employee on behalf of the Company, pursuant to the Company’s expense reimbursement policy in effect at such time, (iii) any expense allowance pursuant
to Company policy, (iv) accrued but unused vacation pay per Company policy, and (v) bonuses and incentive compensation earned and awarded prior to the
date of termination. Accrued Compensation shall be paid on the first regular pay date after the date of termination (or earlier, if required by applicable law).
 

(e) Termination.
 

(i) Cause; Without Good Reason; Death; Disability. If the Company ends the Term for Cause, if Employee resigns as an employee of the
Company for reasons other than an event of Good Reason, the Employee dies or Disability occurs , then the Company shall pay to Employee the
Accrued Compensation but shall have no obligation to pay Employee any amount, whether for salary, benefits, bonuses, or other compensation or
expense reimbursements of any kind, accruing after the end of the Term, and such rights shall, except as otherwise required by law or pursuant to the
applicable award agreement or plan, be forfeited immediately upon the end of the Term. For the sake of clarity, any stock options, restricted stock or
other equity compensation shall, to the extent vested on the date of resignation without Good Reason, the date the Company ends the Term for Cause,
or the date of Employee’s death, remain outstanding and exercisable to the extent provided in the applicable award agreement or plan, by the Employee
or his personal representative or executor.

 
(ii) Without Cause; Good Reason. In the event that the Company terminates Employee’s employment hereunder without Cause, or the

Employee terminates his employment with Good Reason, he shall be entitled to the Accrued Compensation and, subject to Section 21 and 22 below,
 

(A) A lump sum payment equal to two times his Base Salary in effect at the date of termination, less applicable withholding
(B) Continued participation (via state or federal insurance continuation laws such as COBRA, to the extent available) in the health and welfare
plans (or comparable plans, if continued participation in the Company’s plans is not available) provided by the Company to Employee at the
time of termination for a period of two years from the date of termination or, if earlier, until he is eligible for comparable coverage with a
subsequent employer. The Company agrees to reimburse the payments Employee makes for such coverage, whether via continuation or
separate comparable policy. Premium reimbursements shall be made by the Company to Employee consistent with the Company’s normal
expense reimbursement policy, provided that Employee submits documentation to the Company substantiating his payments for insurance
coverage. Employee shall give the Company prompt notice of his eligibility for comparable coverage.
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(C) All vested stock options shall remain exercisable from the date of termination until the expiration date of the applicable award.  So long as the
Section 8 below does not apply, then all options which are unvested at the date of termination Without Cause or for Good Reason shall be
accelerated as of the date of termination such that the number of option shares equal to 1/24th the number of option shares multiplied by the
number of full months of Employee’s employment hereunder shall be deemed vested and immediately exercisable by the Employee. Any
unvested options over and above the foregoing shall be cancelled and of no further force or effect, and shall not be exercisable by the
Employee.

 
(D) Any severance payments and/or other separation benefits contemplated by this Agreement are conditional on Employee: (i) continuing to
comply with the terms of this Agreement and the PIA (as defined herein); (ii) delivering prior to or contemporaneously with any such severance
payments, and not revoking, (x) a customary general release of claims relating to Employee’s employment and/or this Agreement against the
Company or its successor, its subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers and stockholders and (y) a customary affirmation of Employee’s
continuing obligations hereunder and under the PIA.

 
Unless otherwise required by law, no severance payments and/or benefits under this Agreement will be paid and/or provided until after the expiration of any
relevant revocation period. Subject to the effectiveness of the release, the severance payments shall be paid on the first payroll date that begins 30 days after
Employee’s termination of employment.
 
8. Change in Control Payments. The provisions of this paragraph 8 set forth the terms of an agreement reached between Employee and the Company
regarding Employee's rights and obligations upon the occurrence of a "Change in Control" (as hereinafter defined) of the Company during the Term. These
provisions are intended to assure and encourage in advance Employee's continued attention and dedication to his assigned duties and his objectivity during the
pendency and after the occurrence of any such Change in Control. The following provisions shall apply in the event of a Change in Control, in addition to any
payment or benefit that may be required pursuant to Section 7.
 

(a) Equity. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, all stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based grants to Employee by the Company
or that may be granted in the future shall, irrespective of any provisions of his award agreements, immediately and irrevocably vest and become exercisable and
any restrictions thereon shall lapse. All stock options shall remain exercisable from the date of the Change in Control until the expiration of the term of such stock
options.
 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this paragraph 8, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 
"Change in Control" shall mean any of the following:
 

(1) the acquisition by any individual, entity, or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act) (the "Acquiring Person"),
other than the Company, or any of its Subsidiaries, of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3- promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or
more of the combined voting power or economic interests of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors (excluding any issuance of securities by the Company in a transaction or series of transactions made principally for bona fide equity financing
purposes; or
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(2) the acquisition of the Company by another entity by means of any transaction or series of related transactions to which the Company is party
(including, without limitation, any stock acquisition, reorganization, merger or consolidation but excluding any issuance of securities by the Company in a
transaction or series of transactions made principally for bona fide equity financing purposes ) other than a transaction or series of related transactions in which
the holders of the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction or series of related transactions retain, immediately after
such transaction or series of related transactions, as a result of shares in the Company held by such holders prior to such transaction or series of related
transactions, at least a majority of the total voting power represented by the outstanding voting securities of the Company or such other surviving or resulting
entity (or if the Company or such other surviving or resulting entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary immediately following such acquisition, its parent); or
 

(3) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in one transaction or series of related transactions.
 
9. Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. As a condition of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee agrees to sign the Company’s
standard form of Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (“PIA”).
 
10. Successors and Assigns.
 

(a) Employee. This Agreement is a personal contract, and the rights and interests that the Agreement accords to Employee may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, pledged, encumbered, or hypothecated by him. All rights and benefits of Employee shall be for the sole personal benefit of Employee, and
no other person shall acquire any right, title or interest under this Agreement by reason of any sale, assignment, transfer, claim or judgment or bankruptcy
proceedings against Employee. Except as so provided, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Employee and his personal
representatives, distributees and legatees.
 

(b) The Company. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company and inure to the benefit of the Company and of its successors and assigns,
including (but not limited to) any Company that may acquire all or substantially all of the Company's assets or business or into or with which the Company may
be consolidated or merged. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this Agreement for all
purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or
otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
 
11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the equity award agreements referred to herein) represents the entire agreement between the parties
concerning Employee's employment with the Company and supersedes all prior negotiations, discussions, understanding and agreements, whether written or
oral, between Employee and the Company relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.
 
12. Amendment or Modification, Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed to in writing
signed by Employee and by a duly authorized officer of the Company. No waiver by any party to this Agreement or any breach by another party of any condition
or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of a similar or dissimilar condition or provision at the same time,
any prior time or any subsequent time.
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13. Notices. Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered personally or sent by overnight courier or registered or certified mail,
postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to the party concerned at the address indicated below, or to such other address of which such party
subsequently may give notice in writing:
 
If to Employee: 3631 East 7 th Avenue Parkway
 Denver, CO 80206
 
To the address specified in the payroll records of the Company.
 
If to the Company: Aytu BioScience, Inc.
 373 Inverness Parkway
 Suite 206
 Englewood, Colorado 80112
 
Any notice delivered personally or by overnight courier shall be deemed given on the date delivered and any notice sent by registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the date mailed.
 
14. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application of any such provision to any party or circumstances shall be determined by any court of
competent jurisdiction or arbitrator acting pursuant to Section 19 below to be invalid and unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement or the
application of such provision to such person or circumstances other than those to which it is so determined to be invalid and unenforceable shall not be affected,
and each provision of this Agreement shall be validated and shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. If for any reason any provision of this
Agreement containing restrictions is held to cover an area or to be for a length of time that is unreasonable or in any other way is construed to be too broad or to
any extent invalid, such provision shall not be determined to be entirely null, void and of no effect; instead, it is the intention and desire of both the Company and
Employee that, to the extent that the provision is or would be valid or enforceable under applicable law, any court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator acting
pursuant to Section 19 below shall construe and interpret or reform this Agreement to provide for a restriction having the maximum enforceable area, time period
and such other constraints or conditions (although not greater than those contained currently contained in this Agreement) as shall be valid and enforceable
under the applicable law.
 
15. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall survive any termination of this Agreement to the extent necessary to the
intended preservation of such rights and obligations.
 
16. Headings. All descriptive headings of sections and paragraphs in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference, and no provision of this
Agreement is to be construed by reference to the heading of any section or paragraph.
 
17. Withholding Taxes. All salary, benefits, reimbursements and any other payments to Employee under this Agreement shall be subject to all applicable payroll
and withholding taxes and deductions required by any law, rule or regulation of and federal, state or local authority.
 
18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together
constitute one and same instrument. The parties agree that facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as original signatures.
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19. Applicable Law; Arbitration. The validity, interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement and any amendments or modifications hereto shall be governed
by the laws of the State of Colorado, as applied to a contract executed within and to be performed in such State. The parties agree that any disputes shall be
definitively resolved by binding arbitration before the American Arbitration Association in Denver, Colorado in accordance with its rules of arbitration procedure
then in effect. The parties consent to the jurisdiction to the federal courts of the District of Colorado or, if there shall be no jurisdiction, to the state courts located
in Arapahoe County, Colorado, to enforce any arbitration award rendered with respect thereto. Each party shall choose one arbitrator and the two arbitrators
shall choose a third arbitrator. All costs and fees related to such arbitration (and judicial enforcement proceedings, if any) shall be borne by the Company unless
Employee’s claim is deemed to be frivolous by the arbitrator(s) or judge.
 
20. Legal Fees. The Company shall pay the reasonable expenses of Employee’s counsel in negotiating this Agreement.
 
21. Section 409A.
 

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if at the time of Employee’s separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Company determines that Employee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then to the extent any payment or benefit that Employee becomes entitled to under this Agreement on account of
Employee’s separation from service would be considered deferred compensation otherwise subject to the 20 percent additional tax imposed pursuant to Section
409A(a) of the Code as a result of the application of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, such payment shall not be payable and such benefit shall not be
provided until the date that is the earlier of (A) six months and one day after Employee’s separation from service, or (B) Employee’s death. If any such delayed
cash payment is otherwise payable on an installment basis, the first payment shall include a catch-up payment covering amounts that would otherwise have been
paid during the six-month period but for the application of this provision, and the balance of the installments shall be payable in accordance with their original
schedule.
 

(b) All in-kind benefits provided and expenses eligible for reimbursement under this Agreement shall be provided by the Company or incurred by
Employee during the time periods set forth in this Agreement. All reimbursements shall be paid as soon as administratively practicable, but in no event shall any
reimbursement be paid after the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of in-kind benefits
provided or reimbursable expenses incurred in one taxable year shall not affect the in-kind benefits to be provided or the expenses eligible for reimbursement in
any other taxable year (except for any lifetime or other aggregate limitation applicable to medical expenses). Such right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits is
not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
 

(c) To the extent that any payment or benefit described in this Agreement constitutes “non-qualified deferred compensation” under Section 409A of the
Code, and to the extent that such payment or benefit is payable upon Employee’s termination of employment, then such payments or benefits shall be payable
only upon Employee’s “separation from service.” The determination of whether and when a separation from service has occurred shall be made in accordance
with the presumptions set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A 1(h).
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(d) The parties intend that this Agreement will be administered in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent that any provision of this
Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the provision shall be read in such a manner so that all payments hereunder
comply with Section 409A of the Code. Each payment pursuant to this Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A 2(b)(2). The parties agree that this Agreement may be amended, as reasonably requested by either party, and as may be necessary
to fully comply with Section 409A of the Code and all related rules and regulations in order to preserve the payments and benefits provided hereunder without
additional cost to either party.
 
22. Application of Internal Revenue Code Section 280G. If any payment or benefit Employee would receive pursuant to a Change in Control from the
Company or otherwise (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced
Amount” shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax or (y) the largest
portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount, after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes,
income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in Employee’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater
economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting
“parachute payments” is necessary so that the Payment equals the Reduced Amount, reduction shall occur in the manner that results in the greatest economic
benefit for Employee. If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata.
 
In the event it is subsequently determined by the Internal Revenue Service that some portion of the Reduced Amount as determined pursuant to clause (x) in the
preceding paragraph is subject to the Excise Tax, Employee agrees to promptly return to the Company a sufficient amount of the Payment so that no portion of
the Reduced Amount is subject to the Excise Tax. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amount is determined pursuant to clause (y) in the preceding
paragraph, Employee will have no obligation to return any portion of the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.
 
Unless Employee and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm, the accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax compliance purposes
as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. If the accounting firm so engaged by the Company is
serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint a nationally recognized accounting
firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required
to be made hereunder.
 
The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder to provide its calculations,
together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Employee and the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which Employee’s right to
a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Employee or the Company) or such other time as requested by Employee or the Company.
 
23.            Indemnification. As a condition to the effectiveness of this Agreement, the Company and Employee shall enter into a mutually acceptable

indemnification agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. EMPLOYEE
  
By: /s/ Gary V. Cantrell /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow
Name: GARY V. CANTRELL Name: JOSHUA R. DISBROW
  
Chairman of the Compensation Committee Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Board of Directors
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EXHIBIT A
 

Terms of Compensation
 
Management equity grant:

● A quantity of restricted stock of the company as agreed upon by Employee and the Company, but in no event will the quantity be less than the highest
amount of restricted stock issued to any other employee during the term.
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Exhibit 10.2

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This Employment Agreement (the "Agreement"), is effective as of April 16, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), between Aytu BioScience, Inc., a Delaware corporation
headquartered at 373 Inverness Parkway, Suite 206, Englewood, CO 80112 USA, hereinafter referred to as the "Company"), and Jarrett T. Disbrow
(“Employee").
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Company is a duly organized Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business within the State of Colorado, and is in the
business of developing and marketing pharmaceutical products; and
 

WHEREAS, the Company desires assurance of the continued association and services of the Employee in order to continue to retain the Employee’s
experience, skills, abilities, background and knowledge, and is willing to continue to engage the Employee’s services on the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to be in the continued employ of the Company, and is willing to accept such continued employment on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as follows:
 
1. Employment for Term. The Company hereby agrees to employ Employee and Employee hereby accepts such employment with the Company for the period
of 24 months beginning on the Effective Date. The term of this Agreement (the "Term") shall continue until the termination of Employee's employment in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The termination of Employee's employment under this Agreement shall end the Term but shall not terminate
Employee's or the Company's other obligations that are intended to survive the termination of this Agreement (including without limitation, the payments under
Section 7 and 8 and Employee’s obligations under Section 9).
 
2. Position and Duties. During the Term, Employee shall serve as Chairman of the Board (Chairman) and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company, and
perform such duties as are consistent with this position. The Employee shall report to the Board of Directors of the Company. During the Term, Employee shall
also hold such additional positions and titles as the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") may determine from time to time. During the Term,
Employee shall devote as much time as is necessary to satisfactorily perform his duties as CEO of the Company. Employee may engage in any civic and not-for-
profit activities so long as such activities do not materially interfere with the performance of his duties hereunder or present a conflict of interest with the
Company During the Term of this Agreement, Employee agrees not to acquire, assume or participate in, directly or indirectly, any position, investment or interest
known by the Employee to be adverse or antagonistic to the Company, its business or prospects, its financial position, or otherwise or in any company, person
or entity that is, directly or indirectly, in competition with the business of the Company or any of its affiliates. This provision shall encompass any advisory boards
of which Employee is or becomes a member of during the term hereof. Employee shall provide written disclosure to the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors as to all advisory boards on which Employee sits, and will provide the Company with written notice within 10 business days of
Employee agreeing to sit on any additional advisory boards. On termination of Employee’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination, Employee
shall immediately (and with contemporaneous effect) resign any directorships, offices or other positions that Employee may hold in the Company or any affiliate,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties.
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3. Compensation.
 

(a) Base Salary. The Company shall pay Employee a base salary of $250,000 per annum, payable at least monthly on the Company's regular pay cycle
for professional employees (the “Base Salary”). Except as specifically otherwise provided herein, the Base Salary may be increased only by recommendation of
the Compensation Committee of the Board and ratified by the Compensation Committee or a majority of the independent members of the Board.
 

(b) Annual Review. The Base Salary shall be reviewed at the end of each fiscal year (the first such review to occur at the end of fiscal year 2020).
 

(c) Equity Compensation. In connection with the execution of this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees to grant on or promptly after August 1, 2019
equity compensation to Employee in the form of restricted stock or options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock, at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee. In the event of issuance of options, these options shall vest in accordance with the terms and schedule set forth in Exhibit A hereto.
Such vesting schedule will be accelerated, to the extent provided in Section 8 of this agreement. Equity grants will be made annually during the Term of this
Agreement in the amount approved by the Compensation Committee and commensurate with the performance level of the Employee.
 

(d) Other and Additional Compensation.  Subsections (a) and (c) above establish Employee’s compensation during the Term which shall not preclude
the Board from awarding Employee a higher salary or any bonuses or stock options, restricted stock or other forms of additional equity awards in the discretion
of the Board during the Term at any time. The Employee shall be eligible for an annual discretionary bonus (hereinafter referred to as the “Bonus”) with a target
amount of one hundred and twenty five percent (125%) of the Base Salary, subject to standard deductions and withholdings, based on the Compensation
Committee’s determination, in good faith, and based upon the Employee’s individual achievement and company performance objectives as set by the Board or
the Compensation Committee, of whether the Employee has met such performance milestones as are established for the Employee by the Board or the
Compensation Committee, in good faith, in consultation with the Employee (hereinafter referred to as the “Performance Milestones”). The Performance
Milestones will be based on certain factors including, but not limited to, the Employee’s performance and the Company’s financial and operational performance.
The Employee’s Bonus target will be reviewed annually and may be adjusted by the Board or the Compensation Committee in its discretion, provided however,
that the Bonus target may only be reduced upon Employee’s written consent. The Employee must be employed on the date the Bonus is awarded to be eligible
for the Bonus, subject to the termination provisions hereof. Bonuses shall be paid during the calendar quarter following the calendar quarter for which such
Bonus was earned when Performance Milestones are met during a calendar quarter. Fourth quarter Bonuses and Bonuses calculated on the basis of partial
Performance Milestone satisfaction shall be paid within 75 days of fiscal year-end.
 
4. Employee Benefits. During the Term, Employee shall be entitled to participate at the same level as other senior executive officers of the Company in any
group insurance, hospitalization, medical, health and accident, disability, fringe benefit and tax-qualified retirement plans or programs of the Company now
existing or hereafter established to the extent that he is eligible under the general provisions thereof. For the term of this Agreement, Employee shall be entitled
to paid time off at the rate of (5) weeks per annum. In accordance with Company policy, unused paid time off may not be carried over from year to year.
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5. Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Employee for actual, reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the performance of his services for the
Company upon the receipt of appropriate documentation of such expenses which shall be submitted in such form, and with such supporting documentation, as
called for or required by Company policy.
 
6. Termination.
 

(a) General. The Term shall end immediately upon Employee's death. Employee’s employment may also be terminated by the Company with or without
Cause or as a result of Employee’s Disability, as defined in Section 7 or by Employee with or without Good Reason (as such terms are defined below).
 

(b) Notice of Termination.  Either party shall give written notice of termination to the other party.
 

(c) Notification of New Employer. In the event that Employee leaves the employ of the Company, Employee grants consent to notification by the
Company to Employee’s new employer about his rights and obligations under this Agreement and the PIA (hereinafter defined).
 
7. Severance Benefits.
 

(a) Cause Defined. "Cause" means (i) willful malfeasance or willful misconduct by Employee in connection with his employment; (ii) Employee's gross
negligence in performing any of his duties under this Agreement; (iii) Employee's conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty to, or entry of a plea of nolo contendere
with respect to, any crime other than a traffic violation or infraction which is a misdemeanor; (iv) Employee’s willful and deliberate violation of a Company policy,
(v) Employee's unintended but material breach of any written policy applicable to all employees adopted by the Company which is not cured to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Board of Directors within thirty (30) business days after notice thereof; (vi) the Employee’s unauthorized use or disclosure of any proprietary
information or trade secrets of the Company or any other party as to which the Employee owes an obligation of nondisclosure as a result of the Employee’s
relationship with the Company, (vii) the Employee’s willful and deliberate breach of his obligations under this Agreement, or (viii) any other material breach by
Employee of any of his obligations in this Agreement which is not cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board of Directors within thirty (30) business days
after notice thereof.
 

(b) Disability Defined. "Disability" shall mean (i) Employee's incapacity due to a physical or mental condition and, if reasonable accommodation is
required by law, after any reasonable accommodation, that results in Employee being substantially unable to perform his duties hereunder for six consecutive
months (or for six months out of any nine month period) or (ii) a qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to the Company and Employee determines
that Employee is incapacitated due to a physical or mental condition and, if reasonable accommodation is required by law, after any reasonable accommodation
so as to be unable to regularly perform the duties of his position and such condition is expected to be of a permanent or near-permanent duration. Until such
time as Employee is terminated for Disability under this paragraph (b), Employee shall continue to receive his Base Salary hereunder, provided that if the
Company provides Employee with disability insurance coverage, payments of Employee's Base Salary shall be reduced by the amount of any disability
insurance payments received by Employee due to such coverage. The Company shall give Employee written notice of termination due to Disability which shall
take effect sixty (60) days after the date it is sent to Employee unless Employee shall have returned to the performance of his duties hereunder during such sixty
(60) day period (whereupon such notice shall become void). In the event that the Company terminates Employee’s employment as a result of his Disability,
Employee shall be entitled to the same benefits as if his employment had been terminated by the Company without Cause.
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(c) Good Reason Defined. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean, without Employee’s written consent: (i) there is a material
reduction of the level of Employee’s compensation (excluding any bonuses) (except where there is a general reduction applicable to the management team
generally, provided, however, that in no case may the Base Salary be reduced below the amount stated in Section 3(a)), (ii) there is a material reduction in
Employee’s overall responsibilities or authority, or scope of duties (it being understood that the occurrence of a Change in Control shall not, by itself, necessarily
constitute a reduction in Employee’s responsibilities or authority); or (iii) there is a material change in the principal geographic location at which Employee must
perform his services (it being understood that the relocation of Employee to a facility or a location within forty (40) miles of the State Capitol Building in Denver,
Colorado shall not be deemed material for purposes of this Agreement). No event shall be deemed to be “Good Reason” if the Company has cured the event (if
susceptible to cure) within 30 days of receipt of written notice from Employee specifying the event or events which, absent cure, would constitute “Good Cause.”
 

(d) Accrued Compensation Defined. Accrued Compensation shall mean an amount which shall include all amounts earned or accrued by Employee
through the date of termination of this Agreement but not paid as of such date, including (i) Base Salary, (ii) reimbursement for business expenses incurred by
the Employee on behalf of the Company, pursuant to the Company’s expense reimbursement policy in effect at such time, (iii) any expense allowance pursuant
to Company policy, (iv) accrued but unused vacation pay per Company policy, and (v) bonuses and incentive compensation earned and awarded prior to the
date of termination. Accrued Compensation shall be paid on the first regular pay date after the date of termination (or earlier, if required by applicable law).
 

(e) Termination.
 

(i) Cause; Without Good Reason; Death; Disability. If the Company ends the Term for Cause, if Employee resigns as an employee of the
Company for reasons other than an event of Good Reason, the Employee dies or Disability occurs , then the Company shall pay to Employee the
Accrued Compensation but shall have no obligation to pay Employee any amount, whether for salary, benefits, bonuses, or other compensation or
expense reimbursements of any kind, accruing after the end of the Term, and such rights shall, except as otherwise required by law or pursuant to the
applicable award agreement or plan, be forfeited immediately upon the end of the Term. For the sake of clarity, any stock options, restricted stock or
other equity compensation shall, to the extent vested on the date of resignation without Good Reason, the date the Company ends the Term for Cause,
or the date of Employee’s death, remain outstanding and exercisable to the extent provided in the applicable award agreement or plan, by the Employee
or his personal representative or executor.

 
(ii) Without Cause; Good Reason. In the event that the Company terminates Employee’s employment hereunder without Cause, or the

Employee terminates his employment with Good Reason, he shall be entitled to the Accrued Compensation and, subject to Section 21 and 22 below,
 

(A) A lump sum payment equal to two times his Base Salary in effect at the date of termination, less applicable withholding
(B) Continued participation (via state or federal insurance continuation laws such as COBRA, to the extent available) in the health and welfare
plans (or comparable plans, if continued participation in the Company’s plans is not available) provided by the Company to Employee at the
time of termination for a period of two years from the date of termination or, if earlier, until he is eligible for comparable coverage with a
subsequent employer. The Company agrees to reimburse the payments Employee makes for such coverage, whether via continuation or
separate comparable policy. Premium reimbursements shall be made by the Company to Employee consistent with the Company’s normal
expense reimbursement policy, provided that Employee submits documentation to the Company substantiating his payments for insurance
coverage. Employee shall give the Company prompt notice of his eligibility for comparable coverage.
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(C) All vested stock options shall remain exercisable from the date of termination until the expiration date of the applicable award.  So long as the
Section 8 below does not apply, then all options which are unvested at the date of termination Without Cause or for Good Reason shall be
accelerated as of the date of termination such that the number of option shares equal to 1/24th the number of option shares multiplied by the
number of full months of Employee’s employment hereunder shall be deemed vested and immediately exercisable by the Employee. Any
unvested options over and above the foregoing shall be cancelled and of no further force or effect, and shall not be exercisable by the
Employee. Any issued restricted stock will vest 90 days following the termination date.

 
(D) Any severance payments and/or other separation benefits contemplated by this Agreement are conditional on Employee: (i) continuing to
comply with the terms of this Agreement and the PIA (as defined herein); (ii) delivering prior to or contemporaneously with any such severance
payments, and not revoking, (x) a customary general release of claims relating to Employee’s employment and/or this Agreement against the
Company or its successor, its subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers and stockholders and (y) a customary affirmation of Employee’s
continuing obligations hereunder and under the PIA.

 
Unless otherwise required by law, no severance payments and/or benefits under this Agreement will be paid and/or provided until after the expiration of any
relevant revocation period. Subject to the effectiveness of the release, the severance payments shall be paid on the first payroll date that begins 30 days after
Employee’s termination of employment.
 
8. Change in Control Payments. The provisions of this paragraph 8 set forth the terms of an agreement reached between Employee and the Company
regarding Employee's rights and obligations upon the occurrence of a "Change in Control" (as hereinafter defined) of the Company during the Term. These
provisions are intended to assure and encourage in advance Employee's continued attention and dedication to his assigned duties and his objectivity during the
pendency and after the occurrence of any such Change in Control. The following provisions shall apply in the event of a Change in Control, in addition to any
payment or benefit that may be required pursuant to Section 7.
 

(a) Equity. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, all stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based grants to Employee by the Company
or that may be granted in the future shall, irrespective of any provisions of his award agreements, immediately and irrevocably vest and become exercisable and
any restrictions thereon shall lapse. All stock options shall remain exercisable from the date of the Change in Control until the expiration of the term of such stock
options.
 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this paragraph 8, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 
"Change in Control" shall mean any of the following:
 

(1) the acquisition by any individual, entity, or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act) (the "Acquiring Person"),
other than the Company, or any of its Subsidiaries, of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3- promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or
more of the combined voting power or economic interests of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors (excluding any issuance of securities by the Company in a transaction or series of transactions made principally for bona fide equity financing
purposes; or
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(2) the acquisition of the Company by another entity by means of any transaction or series of related transactions to which the Company is party
(including, without limitation, any stock acquisition, reorganization, merger or consolidation but excluding any issuance of securities by the Company in a
transaction or series of transactions made principally for bona fide equity financing purposes ) other than a transaction or series of related transactions in which
the holders of the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction or series of related transactions retain, immediately after
such transaction or series of related transactions, as a result of shares in the Company held by such holders prior to such transaction or series of related
transactions, at least a majority of the total voting power represented by the outstanding voting securities of the Company or such other surviving or resulting
entity (or if the Company or such other surviving or resulting entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary immediately following such acquisition, its parent); or
 

(3) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in one transaction or series of related transactions.
 
9. Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. As a condition of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee agrees to sign the Company’s
standard form of Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (“PIA”).
 
10. Successors and Assigns.
 

(a) Employee. This Agreement is a personal contract, and the rights and interests that the Agreement accords to Employee may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, pledged, encumbered, or hypothecated by him. All rights and benefits of Employee shall be for the sole personal benefit of Employee, and
no other person shall acquire any right, title or interest under this Agreement by reason of any sale, assignment, transfer, claim or judgment or bankruptcy
proceedings against Employee. Except as so provided, this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Employee and his personal
representatives, distributees and legatees.
 

(b) The Company. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company and inure to the benefit of the Company and of its successors and assigns,
including (but not limited to) any Company that may acquire all or substantially all of the Company's assets or business or into or with which the Company may
be consolidated or merged. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this Agreement for all
purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or
otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
 
11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the equity award agreements referred to herein) represents the entire agreement between the parties
concerning Employee's employment with the Company and supersedes all prior negotiations, discussions, understanding and agreements, whether written or
oral, between Employee and the Company relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.
 
12. Amendment or Modification, Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed to in writing
signed by Employee and by a duly authorized officer of the Company. No waiver by any party to this Agreement or any breach by another party of any condition
or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of a similar or dissimilar condition or provision at the same time,
any prior time or any subsequent time.
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13. Notices. Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered personally or sent by overnight courier or registered or certified mail,
postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to the party concerned at the address indicated below, or to such other address of which such party
subsequently may give notice in writing:
 
If to Employee:  
 3516 Rock Creek Drive
 Raleigh, NC 27609
 
To the address specified in the payroll records of the Company.
 
If to the Company: Aytu BioScience, Inc.
 373 Inverness Parkway
 Suite 206
 Englewood, Colorado 80112
 
Any notice delivered personally or by overnight courier shall be deemed given on the date delivered and any notice sent by registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, shall be deemed given on the date mailed.
 
14. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application of any such provision to any party or circumstances shall be determined by any court of
competent jurisdiction or arbitrator acting pursuant to Section 19 below to be invalid and unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement or the
application of such provision to such person or circumstances other than those to which it is so determined to be invalid and unenforceable shall not be affected,
and each provision of this Agreement shall be validated and shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. If for any reason any provision of this
Agreement containing restrictions is held to cover an area or to be for a length of time that is unreasonable or in any other way is construed to be too broad or to
any extent invalid, such provision shall not be determined to be entirely null, void and of no effect; instead, it is the intention and desire of both the Company and
Employee that, to the extent that the provision is or would be valid or enforceable under applicable law, any court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator acting
pursuant to Section 19 below shall construe and interpret or reform this Agreement to provide for a restriction having the maximum enforceable area, time period
and such other constraints or conditions (although not greater than those contained currently contained in this Agreement) as shall be valid and enforceable
under the applicable law.
 
15. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall survive any termination of this Agreement to the extent necessary to the
intended preservation of such rights and obligations.
 
16. Headings. All descriptive headings of sections and paragraphs in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference, and no provision of this
Agreement is to be construed by reference to the heading of any section or paragraph.
 
17. Withholding Taxes. All salary, benefits, reimbursements and any other payments to Employee under this Agreement shall be subject to all applicable payroll
and withholding taxes and deductions required by any law, rule or regulation of and federal, state or local authority.
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18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together
constitute one and same instrument. The parties agree that facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as original signatures.
 
19. Applicable Law; Arbitration. The validity, interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement and any amendments or modifications hereto shall be governed
by the laws of the State of Colorado, as applied to a contract executed within and to be performed in such State. The parties agree that any disputes shall be
definitively resolved by binding arbitration before the American Arbitration Association in Denver, Colorado in accordance with its rules of arbitration procedure
then in effect. The parties consent to the jurisdiction to the federal courts of the District of Colorado or, if there shall be no jurisdiction, to the state courts located
in Arapahoe County, Colorado, to enforce any arbitration award rendered with respect thereto. Each party shall choose one arbitrator and the two arbitrators
shall choose a third arbitrator. All costs and fees related to such arbitration (and judicial enforcement proceedings, if any) shall be borne by the Company unless
Employee’s claim is deemed to be frivolous by the arbitrator(s) or judge.
 
20. Legal Fees. The Company shall pay the reasonable expenses of Employee’s counsel in negotiating this Agreement.
 
21. Section 409A.
 

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if at the time of Employee’s separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Company determines that Employee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then to the extent any payment or benefit that Employee becomes entitled to under this Agreement on account of
Employee’s separation from service would be considered deferred compensation otherwise subject to the 20 percent additional tax imposed pursuant to Section
409A(a) of the Code as a result of the application of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, such payment shall not be payable and such benefit shall not be
provided until the date that is the earlier of (A) six months and one day after Employee’s separation from service, or (B) Employee’s death. If any such delayed
cash payment is otherwise payable on an installment basis, the first payment shall include a catch-up payment covering amounts that would otherwise have been
paid during the six-month period but for the application of this provision, and the balance of the installments shall be payable in accordance with their original
schedule.
 

(b) All in-kind benefits provided and expenses eligible for reimbursement under this Agreement shall be provided by the Company or incurred by
Employee during the time periods set forth in this Agreement. All reimbursements shall be paid as soon as administratively practicable, but in no event shall any
reimbursement be paid after the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of in-kind benefits
provided or reimbursable expenses incurred in one taxable year shall not affect the in-kind benefits to be provided or the expenses eligible for reimbursement in
any other taxable year (except for any lifetime or other aggregate limitation applicable to medical expenses). Such right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits is
not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
 

(c) To the extent that any payment or benefit described in this Agreement constitutes “non-qualified deferred compensation” under Section 409A of the
Code, and to the extent that such payment or benefit is payable upon Employee’s termination of employment, then such payments or benefits shall be payable
only upon Employee’s “separation from service.” The determination of whether and when a separation from service has occurred shall be made in accordance
with the presumptions set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A 1(h).
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(d) The parties intend that this Agreement will be administered in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent that any provision of this
Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the provision shall be read in such a manner so that all payments hereunder
comply with Section 409A of the Code. Each payment pursuant to this Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A 2(b)(2). The parties agree that this Agreement may be amended, as reasonably requested by either party, and as may be necessary
to fully comply with Section 409A of the Code and all related rules and regulations in order to preserve the payments and benefits provided hereunder without
additional cost to either party.
 
22. Application of Internal Revenue Code Section 280G. If any payment or benefit Employee would receive pursuant to a Change in Control from the
Company or otherwise (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced
Amount” shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax or (y) the largest
portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount, after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes,
income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in Employee’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater
economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting
“parachute payments” is necessary so that the Payment equals the Reduced Amount, reduction shall occur in the manner that results in the greatest economic
benefit for Employee. If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata.
 
In the event it is subsequently determined by the Internal Revenue Service that some portion of the Reduced Amount as determined pursuant to clause (x) in the
preceding paragraph is subject to the Excise Tax, Employee agrees to promptly return to the Company a sufficient amount of the Payment so that no portion of
the Reduced Amount is subject to the Excise Tax. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amount is determined pursuant to clause (y) in the preceding
paragraph, Employee will have no obligation to return any portion of the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.
 
Unless Employee and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm, the accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax compliance purposes
as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. If the accounting firm so engaged by the Company is
serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint a nationally recognized accounting
firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required
to be made hereunder.
 
The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder to provide its calculations,
together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Employee and the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which Employee’s right to
a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Employee or the Company) or such other time as requested by Employee or the Company.
 
23. Indemnification. As a condition to the effectiveness of this Agreement, the Company and Employee shall enter into a mutually acceptable indemnification
agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.  EMPLOYEE
   
By: /s/ Gary V. Cantrell  /s/ Jarrett T. Disbrow
Name: GARY V. CANTRELL  Name: JARRETTT. DISBROW
   
Chairman of the Compensation Committee  Chief Operating Officer
Board of Directors   
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EXHIBIT A
 

Terms of Compensation
 
Management equity grant:
 

● A quantity of options to purchase shares of the company’s common stock as agreed upon by Employee and the Company, but in no event will the
quantity be less than the highest amount of options issued to any other employee during the term. The strike price for all options will be the last sale
price of the Company’s common stock as reported during the period immediately preceding the date of grant and in accordance with the terms of the
Company’s Stock and Incentive Plan.

● All options fully vest upon change in control, death, disability, termination with or without cause, termination for good reason
● 50% of the options are fully vested on the Effective Date of this agreement
● 25% of the options vest 365 days thereafter
● 25% of the options vest 730 days thereafter
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Exhibit 10.3

 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT
 

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT (“Second Amendment”) is made and entered into as of this 4 th day of April, 2019 by and
between BETA INVESTORS GROUP, L.L.C., an Illinois limited liability company (“Landlord”), as successor in interest to 373 Inverness, LLC, an Arizona limited
liability company (“373 Inverness”) and AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC, a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, 373 Inverness, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease on August 15, 2015, (“Lease”)
for the premises located at 373 Inverness Parkway, Suite 206, Englewood, Colorado 80112, consisting of 6,579 rentable square feet (the “Premises”), and
 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to extend the Term of the Lease for the Premises and otherwise amend the Lease, all on the following terms and
conditions.
 

AGREEMENT
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are
acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:
 

1. Recitals. The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein by reference.
 

2. Lease Term. The Lease Term for the Premises is hereby extended for a period of thirty-six (36) months commencing on October 1, 2020 and
expiring on September 30, 2023 (the “Second Extended Term”).

  
3. Base Rent. The Base Rent for the Second Extended Term shall be as follows:

 

Period  
Base Rent

PSF   
Base Rent
Per Month   

Base Rent
Per Annum  

10/1/20-09/30/21  $ 17.50  $ 9,594.38  $ 115,132.50 
10/1/21-09/30/22  $ 18.00  $ 9,868.50  $ 118,422.00 
10/1/22-09/30/23  $ 18.50  $ 10,142.63  $ 121,711.50 

  
4. Right of First Refusal (“RFR”). Before entering into a new lease on all or any portion of the Building, and (1) as long as Tenant is not then in default
under the Lease, and (2) the existing tenant in such available space elects not to renew its lease, Landlord will notify Tenant of the fair market base rent,
rental increases and other applicable business terms (“Rental Terms”) upon which it would be willing to lease such available space to Tenant.
Notwithstanding the sentence above, with respect to suite 110, Landlord has a prior obligation to offer the RFR to the tenant in suite 100. If the tenant in
suite 100 declines to exercise its RFR then Tenant would have the right to exercise its RFR on Suite 110.
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If within 5 business days after receipt of Landlord’s notice, Tenant agrees in writing to lease “Additional Space” at the Rental Terms, Landlord and
Tenant will have a period of 30 days to negotiate a lease for Additional Space after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s notice of intent to lease on all the
same terms of this Lease, except for the Rental Terms and tenant improvements, and other matters dependent upon the size of the Premises, such as
Tenant’s Proportionate Share. If Tenant does not deliver its notice of intent to lease Additional Space offered in Landlord’s notice within such 5 business
day period, or if Landlord and Tenant do not enter into a fully executed lease for Additional Space within such 30 day period, then this RFR will lapse
and be of no further force and effect and Landlord will have the right to lease Additional Space to a third party on terms in Landlord’s sole discretion
whether or not such terms and conditions are more or less favorable than those offered to Tenant. This RFR is personal to Tenant and is not
assignable.

  
5. Brokers. Landlord and Tenant represent to each other that they have not dealt with any brokers in connection with this Second Amendment. Each
party agrees to indemnify the other against any liability arising from a breach of the representations contained in this paragraph.

 

6. Miscellaneous.
 

A. This Second Amendment sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the matters set forth herein. There have been
no additional oral or written representations or agreements.

 

B. Except as herein modified or amended, the provisions, conditions and terms of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.
 

C. In the case of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Lease and this Second Amendment, the provisions of this Second
Amendment shall govern and control.

 

D. The capitalized terms used in the Second Amendment shall have the same definitions as set forth in the Lease to the extent that such
capitalized terms are defined therein and not redefined in this Second Amendment.

 

E. The foregoing Second Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which when taken together, shall constitute on and the same
document.

 

F. The parties executing this Second Amendment hereby represent and warrant that they have the authority to execute and bind the entity for
which they are executing this Second Amendment in all respects.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Second Amendment as of the date first written above.
 

LANDLORD:
 

BETA INVESTORS GROUP L.L.C. , an Illinois limited liability company
 

By: Beta Mgr. Inc., an Illinois corporation Its: Manager
  

By:____________________________________
Name: Lisa K. Miner
Title: Executive Vice President

 

Date: __________________________________
 

TENANT:
 

AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC, a Delaware corporation
  

By: ___________________________________
Name:
Title:

 

Date: __________________________________
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Exhibit 31.1

 

AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.
Certification by Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

I, Joshua R. Disbrow, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Aytu BioScience, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d—15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
    
Date: May 14, 2019   /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow
  By: Joshua R. Disbrow
  Title: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

 

AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.
Certification by Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

I, David A. Green, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Aytu BioScience, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d—15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
    
Date: May 14, 2019   /s/ David A. Green
  By: David A. Green
  Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1
 

AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.
 

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the filing of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (the “Report”) by Aytu BioScience, Inc. (the “Company”),
each of the undersigned hereby certifies that:
 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
    
Dated: May 14, 2019 /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow
   Joshua R. Disbrow
   Chief Executive Officer
    
Dated: May 14, 2019   /s/ David A. Green
   David A. Green
   Chief Financial Officer
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